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Modulight Corporation is a biomedical company that 
designs and manufactures laser devices for oncology and 
ophthalmology. The company also manufactures products 
for other high value-add applications such as quantum 
computing.

Modulight has over 20 years of experience in medical applications and in 
designing and manufacturing lasers and optics. Since 2014, the company has 
focused on providing laser solutions for the medicine and biomedicine sectors. 
Modulight has been involved in developing various laser-based treatment 
methods for oncology (cancer treatment) and ophthalmology (eye diseases) 
indications.

Modulight’s laser products are also used in other products where laser 
technology adds significant value, often related to improved functionality, 
performance or manufacturability of the customer’s own product or service.

Modulight seeks growth particularly in the United States. Other target markets 
are Europe and Asia. The company’s products are exported to all continents.
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Year 2024 in Brief
The order backlog and cash flow developed well during 2024. 
The number of new orders grew each quarter and new orders 
reached 3.0 million euros in the last quarter alone. Cash 
flow improved as expected, despite increased investments 
in product development, sales and marketing. The projects 
in R&D pipeline progressed, and the number of customer 
meetings continued to increase. By the end of the year, the 
total number of projects reached 30. In the field of oncology, 
we focused particularly on advancing Phase 3 projects. 
Significant progress was also made in other application areas, 
which was reflected in the growing number of new orders 
towards the end of the year.

The development of cloud technology and cloud-based 
services advanced throughout the year. An increasing number 
of customers and leading hospitals have transitioned to the 
pay-per-treatment (PPT) business model, and Modulight 
now aims to offer this model to nearly all customers. The 
install base of PPT business multiplied from around ten at the 
beginning of the year to 47 by year-end.

Revenue grew to EUR 4.1 million in 2024, compared to EUR 
4.0 million in the previous year. EBITDA improved to EUR -4.8 
(-8.5) million.

GROUP KEY FIGURES

EUR 1,000 unless otherwise noted 1-12/2024 1-12/2023
Revenue 4,095 4,025
EBITDA -4,836 -8,539
EBITDA-% -118.1 -212.1  
Operating result (EBIT) -8,337 -12,132 
Operating result (EBIT) margin, %  -203.6  -301.4  
Earnings for the period -6,447 -11,861
Earnings per share (EPS, EUR) -0.15 -0.28
Acquisition of fixed and intangible assets -4,900 -9,735
Free cash flow from operating activities -9,736 -18,274
Cash and cash equivalents¹⁾  17,407 25,131
Net debt¹⁾ -12,864 -18,586
Gearing ratio¹⁾, % -26.1 -33.4 
Equity ratio¹⁾, % 87.5 87.1  
Number of personnel (FTE) ¹⁾ 66 70 

¹⁾The number refers to the end of the reporting period
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Highlights of 2024 

1Q24

Modulight’s year 2024 began with the 
expansion of the pay-per-treatment (PPT) 
business model implementation. We received 
orders from two new pharmaceutical 
companies, which extended the adoption of our 
unique technology to indications where we are 
already working with other customers.

2Q24

Modulight accelerated the adoption of the 
pay-per-treatment (PPT) business model and 
enhanced operational efficiency. At the same 
time, we continued our strategic geographical 
expansion and extended our offering to new 
indications. The product development pipeline 
grew to 30 projects. Modulight’s projects focus 
on the development and commercialization of 
its own products.

3Q24

The PPT business developed well – system 
installations accelerated and expanded to 
the Australian continent for the first time. 
The number of new orders grew steadily 
throughout the year and included  
production orders as well.

4Q24

The orderbook grew by EUR 3.0 million during 
the final quarter of the year, marking four 
consecutive quarters of growth. Certain 
customer projects advanced, and we received 
larger pre-production orders than before. The 
install base of PPT devices increased, reaching 
47 by year-end.
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Profitability Improved, and the Number of  
New Orders Increased Throughout the Year
The PPT business progressed rapidly with exist-
ing customers, cash flow improved, and orders 
accumulated faster than before. Our profit-
ability continued to improve despite increased 
investments in product development, sales and 
marketing. Certain customer projects advanced, 
and we received larger pre-production orders 
than before. Some customer relationships also 
progressed faster than previously expected. 
Operating cash flow improved by 145% and was 
EUR 0.8 million (-1.8) in the fourth quarter, even 
though we increased product development as 
well as investments in sales and marketing.

Revenue in 2024 was EUR 4.1 million, 2% high-
er than previous year. Revenue development 
was affected by our strategic transition to the 
PPT business model and delays in prototype 
deliveries. We received more new orders than 
before, seeing a quarterly increase in the order 
collection. The order backlog continued to im-
prove throughout the year, accelerating in the 
second half, and this also continued at a higher 
level in early 2025 than last year. The projects 
in the order backlog are expected to generate 

revenue primarily in 2025. Although revenue 
from the PPT model is still low, the number of 
care facilities using our cloud-connected prod-
ucts has grown from about 10 at the beginning 
of last year to around 50 now. This growth has 
mostly occurred during the previous quarter. 
We expect growth to continue at the same or a 
faster pace in 2025.

Our extensive investment program has been 
completed, and the associated costs have 
decreased, which is reflected in improved 
profitability, even as we continue to develop our 
own product. Measured by EBITDA, profitability 
improved by 43%, reaching EUR -4.8 million 
(-8.5). Our total operating expenses have 
decreased by 28% since the beginning of the 
year compared to the reference period, despite 
further increasing product development as 
well as sales and marketing efforts. In partic-
ular, the efficiency of marketing and product 
development has improved. Operating cash 
flow improved by 87% and was EUR -0.8 (-7.3) 
million in the fourth quarter. 

The development of our business models is be-
ginning to show in a more stable order intake, as 
well as in the growth rate of our install base and 
customer feedback. We are especially pleased 
with the decision of a significant U.S. managed 
care organization to replace all competitor de-
vices with our PPT devices. Our role as a partner 
to customers has grown in terms of both the 
scope of our operations and the relevance of 
our solution. Certain customers also launched 
products that are partially based exclusively on 
our products.

The order backlog continued to grow throughout the year, 
accelerating in the second half. This positive trend has persisted in 
early 2025, reaching a higher level than last year.
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Phase three clinical trials are at our focus, and 
certain customers want to increase the number 
of devices installed in the field. If these plans 
realize in the first half of the year, we will install 
a record number of new devices, and the use of 
our own PPT product will increase. Device base 
growth is particularly seen in those indications 
where our profitability is above average. Posi-
tive customer feedback has been a significant 
factor in the growth of our product and our role 
as a partner in many customer relationships.

The goal of our projects is the commercializa-
tion of our own products. Our product devel-
opment pipeline remained at 30 (28) projects. 
These projects focus on commercializing our 
product platform in multiple indications and 
with various pharmaceutical companies’ prod-
ucts. During this quarter, we also acquired new 
customers, but our collaboration with them is 
not yet advanced enough to report them as sep-
arate projects. We have also allocated additional 
resources to projects with existing customers 
as they progress toward commercialization. 

The amount of positive customer feedback has 
continued to grow, and we are pleased that it 
comes particularly from projects that are closer 
to commercialization.

Investments in our factory, such as production 
capacity and the biolaboratory, have strength-
ened our competitiveness. Additionally, the syn-
ergies of our platform solution are increasingly 
appearing as a positive competitive factor and a 

differentiating offering. This has concretely led, 
for example, to increased purchases from long-
term customers. While the main focus has been 
on commercialization projects, we have also 
continued to develop our capabilities, and we 
are particularly proud of the development of our 
laser platform’s micro-optics and mechanics as a 
competitive factor. These have recently opened 
up new opportunities for our products. Our 
broad expertise and vertical integration enable 
the creation of better products in a shorter time 
and improve the reliability of our customers’ 
supply chains in multiple ways.

In the current global situation, our own pro-
duction facility is one of our key competitive 
strengths. We believe this has also positively 
influenced the continued expansion of our cus-
tomer base. We monitor changes in the global 
economy and geopolitics, but so far, we have 
not seen any reason for concern. We have inter-
esting customers, and their number is growing, 
but we also have a strong cash position and the 
ability to respond quickly to market opportu-
nities, for example, by increasing our product 

development. We will continue to focus on 
growth strategy initiatives such as expanding 
our PPT model and advancing pipeline projects 
to commercialize our own products. We believe 
that our strategic actions and strengths will 
contribute to our business returning to strong 
and profitable growth within our strategy peri-
od ending in late 2025.

2024 was a year of strong development for 
Modulight. We worked hard, even though we 
didn’t reach our goals yet. I would like to thank 
our entire staff, the Laser family, for your strong 
contribution to Modulight. I would also like to 
thank our customers for their good cooperation 
and our shareholders and partners for their 
trust in Modulight. We strive to continue to be 
worthy of your trust in the years to come.

Seppo Orsila 
CEO

Total expenses decreased by 28% 
compared to the reference period, 
despite increased investments in 
product development, sales, and 
marketing.
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Strategy and Targets for 2023–2025

1.	 Geographical expansion

2.	 Extension of the offering to new 
indications and applications

3.	 New business models

4.	 Commercial and operational 
excellence

5.	 State-of-the-art laser technology 
expertise

Main Business Targets:

	� At least three commercial roll outs of 
projects in the current R&D pipeline

	� Local operations in the U.S. and 
focusing on selected partnerships in 
Europe and Asia

	� Developing a pay-per-treatment model 
and other SaaS-based business models

	� Improving treatment efficacy and 
accessibility with cloud-based services

	� Carbon-neutral operations in 2025

Modulight Implements  
Its Strategy Especially  
Through the Following Programs:

	� Sales, marketing, and operations 
development

	� Cloud technology and cloud-based 
services development

	� Productizing platform devices for 
various indications and applications

	� Technology development based on the 
completed investment program

	� Development of ESG, governance, and 
reporting

Financial Targets and Dividend 
Policy:

	� Growth: strong annual revenue growth

	� Profitability: return to strong 
profitability in terms of operating 
margin (EBITDA-%)

	� Dividend policy: all returns invested 
in organic and inorganic growth, and 
the company distributes little or no 
dividends

KEY STRATEGIC FACTORS:
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Products and Services 
Modulight develops and provides biomedical lasers for various 
medical indications, customized lasers for applications that 
provide high value-add, as well as related services. Modulight’s 
laser and semiconductor technology is used in, for example, 
cancer treatments, genetics and personalized medicine, as well 
as extending the life cycle of medicines. Modulight works with 
major pharmaceutical companies, cancer research centers and top 
universities.

Research projects are long-term investments for Modulight’s 
customers. The product development process covers product 
development from the concept stage to the active product portfo-
lio, which helps customers shorten the time to market for their 
products and to significantly increase their value. For customers 
in medicine and biomedicine, the process usually begins with a 
preclinical trial phase, followed by clinical trial phase I or pilot pro-
duction. This is followed by clinical trial phases II-III. With products 
for other high value-add applications, the process starts with the 
concept phase, followed by the product development phase. For 
all customers, at the final stage, production is started, and the 
product is launched on the market. 

Modulight uses both a project-specific billing method and, to an 
increasing extent, a SaaS based pay per treatment (PPT) model. 
In project-specific pricing, revenue recognition of the company’s 
revenue is mainly based on the delivery stages - sometimes also 
delayed. In the pay per treatment (PPT) model, the payment flow 
received by Modulight stabilizes. 

PRODUCTS

Medicine and Biomedicine Other High Value-Add Applications

MEDICINE
	� Oncology products

	� Ophthalmology products

	� Products for genetics and 
diagnostics

BIOMEDICINE
Customized laser solutions with 
wavelength, optical power and laser 
output beam engineering enabled 
by own production plant and 
semiconductor process

Highly specialized semiconductor 
laser products and product platforms 
used in biomedicine can often 
be directly used for other high 
value-add applications with similar 
requirements for wavelength, laser 
power, and light delivery.

	� Quantum computing

	� Flow cytometry

	� Semiconductor metrology

	� Monitoring of weather phenomena

SERVICES

	� Cloud services for improved 
treatment efficacy and availability

	� Lifecycle support and regular 
maintenance plans

	� Regulatory design and approval 
services

	� Pay per treatment services

	� On-site or online training and 
calibration services

	� Regulatory and feature software 
updates 
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Sustainability Is in 
Modulight’s DNA
The focus of Modulight’s work is on medical technology prod-
ucts that improve people’s health and help prevent and treat 
serious diseases and extend the lifespan of drugs. In addition, 
Modulight manufactures products for various high value add 
applications such as quantum computing. Thus, the company’s 
handprint, i.e. the positive impact on society, is significant 
in relation to the company’s size, and correspondingly, the 
footprint is small. The negative impacts of operations primarily 
arise from procurement, business travel, and investments in 
capital goods.

Modulight is very ambitious in its approach to sustainability 
and develops its business by leveraging its corporate responsi-
bility know-how and listening to stakeholders’ needs.

Sustainability is an integral part of Modulight’s strategy, and 
the company’s core values include passion, renewal, respect, 
and customer satisfaction.

At Modulight, sustainable development is part of daily work 
and an ongoing process. The sustainability program supports 
systematic work, taking into account economic and social 
responsibility as well as environmental responsibility. Sustain-
ability is ensured in all operations, and it is communicated and 
reported in an open and transparent manner.
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Approach to Business and Sustainability
Modulight has defined its essential social, 
economic, and environmental responsibility 
themes based on the needs and expectations 
of its stakeholders. To promote responsibility 
and sustainable development, Modulight has 
set goals and the metrics that follow them, 
as well as measures to achieve the goals, and 
compiled the information in its sustainability 
program. The implementation of the program 
is coordinated by the Steering Group, and it is 
monitored by the Management Team and the 
Board of Directors, which is ultimately responsi-
ble for developing the business in an even more 
sustainable direction.

The Steering Group is also responsible for com-
munication and reporting. Its goal is to ensure 
that Modulight’s employees and partners have 
correct and sufficient information about sus-
tainability objectives and themes, so that they 
can contribute to the development of products 
and operations. Information is shared through 
internal and external channels, and achieve-
ments are regularly reported to all stakeholders.

We have defined our essential 
social, economic, and 

environmental responsibility 
themes based on the needs and 

wishes of our stakeholders.

Modulight’s sustainability is governed 
by the following systems and 
guidelines:

	� Code of Conduct

	� Management systems: ISO 
9001:2015, ISO 14001:2015, ISO 
13485:2016 and ISO27001:2022

	� Corporate Governance system

	� Related Party Transaction Policy

	� Charter of the Board of Directors

	� Remuneration policy

	� Personnel policy

	� Disclosure policy

	� Insider policy and dividend policy

	� Anti-corruption policy
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Sustainability Program
THEMES KPIS GOALS RESULTS 2024 (2023)
Passion for Work
Team spirit ​ Employee satisfaction Employee satisfaction survey result > 4 (scale 1-5) 2023: 4.0 (2022: 4.1)
Well-being at work​ Employee turnover Annual attrition below 8%, balance between work and leasure time 10.0 (3.3) %
Excellent leadership​ Absences due to sickness Sick leaves less than 3% of total working hours in a year 0.9 (0.7) % of hours worked during the year
Renewal
Competence development​ Education and training hours Adequate training provision
Innovations and continuous  
product development Number of projects in product development pipeline A growing number of projects in the product development pipeline, and 

sufficient patents to protect IPR rights 30 (28)

Respect for Others

Respecting company culture​ Employer reputation, employee diversity Start to measure employer reputation through eNPS or similar system 
Offer equal opportunities and compensation

Even gender balance, more than 10 different 
nationalities

​Responsibility outside and inside 
the supply chain Suppliers' commitment to ethical guidelines Suppliers identified as critical have signed the ethical guidelines 78 (52) % of critical suppliers have signed the ethical 

guidelines 

Being part of the societies​ Co-operation with universities and local communities, 
co-operation in product development Active and mutually beneficial co-operation with reliable partners

Liability of products​ Product liability and safety Zero medical devices related incidents 0 (0)
Resource Efficiency of Production and Products

Materials, energy, waste​ Energy, materials and water used, waste generated 
and carbon footprint

100% renewable energy, reduction in electricity and heating consumption 
as a percentage of revenue, Carbon neutrality by 2025

Investment in a geothermal system,   
100% renewable energy (100%)

Product quality, durability and usability Quality deviations Reduced number of non-conformities or complaints
Handling of toxic materials and gas​es Number of accidents or close calls No environmental accidents 0 (0)
Travelling and offices​ Energy used for heating of premises Reduce energy used for heating by 30% by 2025 Heating 423 (807) MWh
Economic Responsibility

Increasing long-term value​ Sales, market value and EBITDA-% Growing market value, high-quality products ​ Revenue EUR 4.1 (4.0) M, EBITDA% -118.1 (-212.1), 
market value EUR 41 (50) M€

Fair value distribution Value distribution​, taxes paid Responsible payment of taxes and fair value distribution to external 
stakeholders

Quality management Customer and user satisfaction High satisfaction

Ensuring continuity Coverage of ethical guideline Suppliers are trained on and comply with ethical guidelines

Corruption or irregular behaviour Number of flaws or inappropriate behavior Zero tolerance for corruption
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Commitments

We are committed to the UN’s Sustainable 
Development Goals (SDGs), of which the 
following are the most important in terms of our 
operations: 

3. Ensure healthy lives and promote well-being for all at all ages.

Modulight is involved in the fight against cancer and in improving people’s health. The company supplies laser systems and 
related software and services to medical and biomedical companies with more than 20 years of experience. Modulight specializes 
in laser-based therapies for oncology and ophthalmology.

4. Ensure inclusive and equitable quality education and promote lifelong learning opportunities for all.

Modulight believes in the power of education and strives to increase people’s awareness of the potential of laser technology in 
cancer prevention and health promotion. The company offers its personnel, the Laser family, equal opportunities to develop their 
knowledge and skills and aims to ensure decent working conditions within its network of partners. Respect for human rights and 
respect for all is an uncompromising requirement.

5. Achieve gender equality and empower all women and girls. 

Modulight is a diverse and international work community that offers all its employees equal development opportunities. The 
basic characteristics of different genders are considered when supporting training and career development. The company seeks 
to attract the best talent to its Management Team and Board of Directors.

8. Promote sustained, inclusive and sustainable economic growth, full and productive employment and decent work 
for all.

Modulight strives for sustainable and productive economic growth and employment. Its ambition is to develop technology and 
new innovations that serve its customers. As an employer and contractual partner, Modulight maintains high standards in terms 
of employees’ rights.

9. Build resilient infrastructure, promote inclusive and sustainable industrialization and foster innovation.

Modulight’s offering is based on strong research and product development and the ability to improve the coverage, features and 
quality of products and services in line with customer needs. Modulight also actively participates in international scientific and 
technological cooperation to promote its innovation, particularly in the fight against cancer.

12. Ensure sustainable consumption and production patterns.

Modulight develops its policies to ensure the efficient use of natural resources and to reduce its environmental impact. The 
company also strives to ensure that these values are implemented in its supply chain. High product quality and long product life 
support sustainable development.
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Meaningful Work in a Good Team

Modulight is a work community 
with competent and enthusiastic 
workers and with an interest in 
continuous development and 
improvement. Modulight calls 
its personnel the “Laser family”, 
which describes the strong team 
spirit within the company. 

At the end of 2024, Modulight had 66 (70) employ-
ees (FTE), a decrease of 6%. Personnel turnover 
was 10.0% (3.3%). Sickness absence rate was 
below the target of 3% and was 0.9% (0.7%) of all 
hours worked for the year. Modulight’s personnel 
expenses in 2024 totaled EUR 6.2 million (2023: 
5.8).

Modulight’s social responsibility emphasizes pas-
sion for work, continuous renewal and respectful 
treatment of everyone. Passion for work is reflected 
in the continuous development of the offering and 
operations, which in turn enables employees to 
take on challenging and varied assignments in proj-
ects developing health  and quantum technologies. 
Respectful treatment of fellow human beings is 

Modulight’s business requires 
special expertise, and the staff’s 

level of education is high.

a starting point in the working community, which 
cannot be compromised under any circumstances. 
Product safety and reliability are also considered as 
part of social responsibility.

The company’s excellent reputation as an employer 
supports recruitment, and excellent job satisfaction 
reduces the need for recruitment . In addition to 
meaningful tasks and good team spirit, well-being 
at work focuses on leadership and a good work-life 
balance. In the 2023 personnel survey, the job sat-
isfaction value was 4.0 on a scale of 1–5 (2022: 4.1). 
In 2024, the employee survey was not conducted, 
as it is typically held every other year.

Modulight’s mission in promoting cancer research 
and treatment brings strong relevance to the work, 
which is reflected in the commitment of the person-
nel to the company.

Meaningful Work

Modulight’s business requires special expertise, and 
the personnel’s level of education is high. About 90 
percent of Modulight’s employees have a university 
degree, and there are also several experts with 
doctoral dissertations in the Laser family. On the 
other hand, many students have started their 
working career at Modulight either through a thesis 
or an internship. The development of personnel, 
the promotion of career paths and the provision of 
training opportunities are of great importance in 

ensuring the motivation and well-being of the per-
sonnel, but also in maintaining Modulight’s product 
development and ability to innovate.

Modulight actively cooperates with international 
research institutes and scientific communities. The 
company’s experts actively participate in health 
technology-related projects and industry discus-
sions at international seminars, trade fairs, meet-
ings, and organizations. In this way, they share their 
expertise and at the same time get the necessary 
information to develop Modulight’s offering.
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Modulight also adheres to these principles 
when working with customers and partners. In 
case of suspicion, the company has a Whis-
tleblowing channel where one can anonymously 
report inappropriate behavior. 

Product Safety

Modulight’s risk management process for medi-
cal devices has been fully implemented in accor-
dance with the ISO 14971 standard. Designing 
safe and efficient products considers applicable 
standards, such as electrical safety and laser 
safety standards. Appropriate product testing is 
performed to ensure product compliance.

Employees at Year-End

66  	 (70)

Job Satisfaction (2023)

4.0 	 (4.1) on a scale of 1–5

Absence Due to Sickness, % 

0.9  (0.7%)

Personnel Expenses 	

EUR 6.2  million (5.8)

Modulight supports its personnel in finding a 
work-life balance. As part of seeking balance, 
office workers are given the opportunity to 
hybrid work so that they can benefit from the 
flexibility of remote working and the social 
dimension of working onsite.

Equal Opportunities for Everyone

Modulight is proud of its diversity. There are 
more than ten different nationalities and a 
fairly even gender balance in the company. All 
employees are offered equal opportunities and 
respectful treatment. Day-to-day activities are 
guided by Code of Conduct, which is part of the 
induction process. The Code prohibits inappro-
priate behavior, discrimination, bullying and 
harassment. 
 

The Target is Zero Accidents

Modulight provides a safe and healthy work-
place for all its employees and actively takes 
measures to prevent accidents and work-relat-
ed illnesses. In Modulight’s production, the risk 
of accidents is low, and special attention has 
been paid to working postures and ergonomics. 
In office work, the stress comes from demand-
ing work and deadline pressure.  All operations 
comply with occupational health and safety 
legislation and regulations. With the goal of 
zero accidents at work, all potential health and 
safety risks are requested to be reported im-
mediately. During 2024, there were no serious 
accidents at work, and the sickness absence 
rate was 0.9% of all hours worked (in 2023: 0 
accidents at work, sickness absence rate 0.7%). 
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Energy-Efficient Semiconductor Production
Modulight’s environmental impact is relatively small in relation to the 
company’s production and operations, but following the principle of 
continuous development, efforts are being made to reduce it relatively. As 
its key environmental themes, Modulight has defined the energy efficiency 
in products and production, high standards of material management and 
reducing the environmental impact of its own operations.

Modulight’s production plant is located next to 
the office in Tampere. The production facility 
has been modernized and expanded. Thanks 
to these actions, production efficiency has 
improved, and the product range has expanded. 
Modulight has calculated its carbon footprint 
excluding Scope 3 emissions during the use 
of products. According to the calculation, total 
emissions in 2024 were 1 212 t CO2e (725 t CO2e 
in 2023). The increase was primarily due to the 
broadening of Scope 3 emissions calculations, 
providing a more accurate representation of the 
company’s overall emissions. The most signifi-
cant emissions come from the supply chain, and 
the company’s own operations now account for 
only about two percent of total emissions, as it 
has also transitioned to using entirely renew-
able energy sources for heating.

The energy intensity of Modulight’s production, 
as well as of the life cycle of the products, is 
low. The emissions from own operations (scope 
1 and 2) are primarily caused by heating of the 
production and office facilities, as well as the 
use of fossil fuels in the company’s vehicles 
and backup power systems. District heating 
has been used for heating, and the electricity 
source has been wind-certified renewable 
energy. In March 2024, Modulight’s production 
and office property transitioned from district 
heating to geothermal heating. After the invest-
ment, the energy used for heating is now emis-
sion-free, and energy consumption for heating 
decreases significantly.
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Modulight’s Production Plant Starts Using  
Geothermal Energy

Actions to combat climate change are 
urgent to mitigate the impact of carbon 
dioxide emissions on the climate. In 
the spring of 2023, Modulight made a 
far-reaching and esponsible decision to 
discontinue the use of district heating for 
its office and production facilities by in-
vesting in a geothermal heating system. 
Implementation began in early autumn, 
and the new geothermal system was 
commissioned in March 2024.

The investment is estimated to pay for 
itself in approximately 10 years. Geother-
mal heat pumps consume relatively little 
electricity compared to the amount of 
heating energy they produce. However, 

since Modulight uses fossil-free wind 
power verified under the Guarantee of 
Origin system, the calculated emissions 
from heating are reduced to zero.

The geothermal investment has been a 
significant step toward minimizing the 
company’s operational emissions. In 
2022, Modulight’s operational emissions 
were 133 t CO2e, whereas in 2024, they 
have decreased by 77% to 30 t CO2e. The 
amount of purchased energy used for 
heating decreased by 384 MWh, or 48%, 
compared to 2023, even though the 
investment did not fully impact 2024’s 
consumption due to the system being 
commissioned in March.

	 tCO2e
Scope 1
Mobile combustion 5
Stationary combustion 3 
Gases used in production 0 
Scope 2
District heating, 248 MWh 23
Electricity, 2,299 MWh 0 
Scope 3
Procurement 511
Capital goods 230
Business travel 335
Upstream logistics 78
Employee commuting 25
Waste and wastewater 3
Total 1,212

CO2e EMISSIONS IN 2024

CASE

The Amounts of Raw Materials are Small

The raw materials used by Modulight are metals, 
chemicals, and semiconductors. The precious 
metals used, such as gold and platinum, are 
100 percent  recycled. Nitrogen is also used 
in production, both as a pure gas and in liquid 
form. For example, the metals used in the semi-
conductor process have been 100% recycled for 
more than 20 years.

Controlling production quality is part of reducing 
environmental impact. Modulight is certified 
to the ISO 14001 environmental standard, and 
resource efficiency in production is continuous-
ly improved. Relatively little waste is generated, 

and recycling is also at a high level. Efforts are 
made to minimize the consumption of harmful 
chemicals, for example by reusing them as much 
as possible. Unusable chemicals are delivered 
for proper disposal when they can no longer be 
used. The amount of waste and effluents is very 
small, as they only cause less than one percent 
of total emissions. Modulight has also the WWF 
Finland Green Office certificate, which shows 
the company’s long-term work in reducing the 
carbon footprint and consumption of natural 
resources.

Business travel 28 % 

Procurement 42 %

Capital  
goods 19 %

District heating 2 %

Upstream  
logistics 7 % 

Employee 
commuting 2 %

Others 1 %

 

1,212 t CO2e
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Market Value

EUR 41 Million

Value for All Stakeholders
Modulight aims to ensure the continuity of its operations through 
profitable growth and to create value for all its stakeholders. The company 
also plays fair in sharing the benefits gained. High-quality products that 
meet the needs of customers are at the heart of the business. Competitive 
remuneration is guaranteed for the employees and fair compensation for 
the delivered products and services for the partners. Modulight supports 
the society by providing jobs and meeting its tax obligations, but also by 
sharing its own expertise with research and educational institutions.

To ensure growth and profitability, Modulight 
follows its strategy, which is based on trends 
in the operating environment, market expecta-
tions, and the company’s own skills and resourc-
es. As a growth company, Modulight seeks to 
increase its value by investing its profits in its 
operations, thereby increasing its market value 
and its attractiveness as an investment target. 
The dividend policy is therefore very moderate.

Standards Support Risk Management

Ensuring the quality of products and production 
is a significant factor in developing profitabil-
ity. So is reliable management, organized in 
accordance with the Finnish Limited Liability 

Companies Act. In its risk management, the 
company complies with medical equipment 
standards and ISO standards. This also includes 
data protection and privacy, which ensure that 
customer data or personal data is handled in 
accordance with the law.

Technology Protected by Patents

Modulight’s product development is also global-
ly unique, because the company develops prod-
ucts and technologies at the interface of three 
deep areas of expertise: drugs and treatments 
for cancer and eye diseases, cloud-connected 
medical devices, and semiconductor and laser 
technologies. The solutions developed with 

pharmaceutical companies and other customers 
are based on Modulight’s own product platforms 
and technologies, which are also actively 
protected by patents. The IPR portfolio is mainly 
built around cloud-connected treatment and 
diagnostic devices and related technologies, 
including business models and analytics. The 
company aims to protect its technology primar-
ily in the United States and expands protection 
to Europe and Asia as needed.

Modulight has four valid US patents for a cloud-
based remotely controlled medical laser device. 
In addition to these, the company has several 
patent families in the evaluation phase. These 
active patent families are related to, for exam-
ple, fluorescence imaging, optical treatment 
monitoring, theragnostic, flow cytometry, gene 
sequencing, treatment accessibility, photoacti-
vated drug delivery, and some special semicon-
ductor processes.

Supplier Code of Conduct

Modulight’s business is based on fair competi-
tion, zero tolerance for corruption and bribery, 
and preventing money laundering. The company 
adheres to strict anti-corruption practices and 
careful controls. In its usual risk management, 
Modulight has not identified any specific risk 
of corruption or bribery. In addition to laws, 
regulations and operational guidelines, the 
company’s operations are guided by internal 
Code of Conduct.

Controlling the supply chain and ensuring its 
ability to deliver is part of risk management and 
ensuring continuity. Modulight works close-
ly with its suppliers, striving for continuous 
improvement. 

Earnings by Shareholders

-0.15  EUR

Equity Ratio, %

87.5
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Report of the Board of Directors 1.1.–31.12.2024

Modulight Corporation is a biomedical company 
that designs and manufactures devices that 
utilize laser light for the treatment of cancer 
and eye diseases as well as for genetics. The 
company also manufactures products for other 
high value-add applications, such as quantum 
computing. 

Modulight has been involved in developing 
various laser-based treatment methods for 
indications in oncology (cancer treatment) and 
ophthalmology (treatment of eye diseases).

Modulight’s products include medical devices, ap-
plication systems, software, cloud services, and 
custom semiconductors. Modulight’s products 
are used worldwide, and the company’s customer 
base includes e.g. several Fortune 500 compa-
nies, international pharmaceutical companies, 
and well-known cancer centers and universities. 
Modulight was founded in 2000 and is head-
quartered in Tampere, Finland. On December 31, 
2024, the company had 66 employees (FTE), 
and the company’s net sales in 2024 were EUR 
4.1 million. The company’s share is traded on the 
First North Growth Market Finland marketplace 
maintained by Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd.

Market Overview and Operating 
Environment

The medical markets relevant to Modulight 
Corporation are particularly related to oncology, 
ophthalmology, genetics and diagnostics. In addi-
tion, Modulight’s technology can be utilized in other 
high-value-add applications, such as quantum 
computing and flow cytometry. 

The total oncology market is growing significantly 
as the population ages in the Western countries, the 
incidence of cancers increases, and personalized 
pharmacotherapy solutions become more common 
in the treatment of cancer diseases. The ophthalmol-
ogy treatment market is also continuing to grow as 
eye diseases increase due to the ageing of the pop-
ulation and the development of new treatments . In 
addition, the fields of genetics and diagnostics offer 
growth opportunities for Modulight, as well as new 
applications of the technology, such as dentistry.

The quantum computing market is just emerging. 
Forecasts for its growth vary significantly, but all 
point to  remarkable growth in the industry in the 
next few years. Modulight monitors the market 
mainly through its customers and, in line with its 
strategy, aims to offer its products also for quantum 
computing to maximize synergy benefits.

Strategy and Targets

Modulight’s growth targets for the strategy 
period 2023–2025 are based on the following 
strategic actions:

1.	 Geographical expansion
2.	 Expansion of the offering to new indications 

and applications
3.	 New business models
4.	 Commercial and operational excellence
5.	 State-of-the-art laser technology expertise

The company’s main business targets for the 
strategy period 2023–2025 are:

	� At least three commercial roll-outs of 
projects in the current R&D pipeline

	� Starting local operations in the U.S. and 
focusing on selected partnerships in Europe 
and Asia

	� Developing the pay per treatment model and 
other SaaS-based business models

	� Improving treatment efficacy and 
accessibility with cloud-based services

	� Carbon-neutral operations in 2025

Modulight implements its strategy especially 
through the following programs:

	� Sales, marketing and operations 
development

	� Cloud technology and cloud-based services 
development

	� Productizing platform devices for various 
indications and applications

	� Technology development based on the 
completed investment program

	� Development of ESG, governance and 
reporting

Modulight’s financial target is strong annual 
growth and a return to strong profitability during 
the strategy period 2023–2025. The company’s 
dividend policy remains unchanged.

	� Growth: strong annual revenue growth

	� Profitability: return to strong profitability in 
terms of EBITDA-%

	� Dividend policy: all returns invested in 
organic and inorganic growth, and the 
company distributes little or no dividends
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Key Events in the Financial Period of 2024

	� PPT’s business developed rapidly, especially 
in the last quarter of the year, and the 
number of hospitals using the company’s 
product increased to 47 at the end of the 
year. 

	� The total number of product development 
projects was 30 (28) at the end of the year. 

	� Net sales were EUR 4,095 (4,025) thousand. 
	� EBITDA was EUR -4,836 (-8,539) thousand. 
	� EBITDA margin was -118.1 (-212.1) % of net sales.  
	� Operating result (EBIT) was EUR -8,337 

(-12,132) thousand. 
	� Operating result (EBIT) margin was -203.6 

(-301.4) % of net sales.
	� Earnings per share were EUR -0.15 (-0.28).
	� The company’s Board of Directors proposes 

that no dividend be paid for the financial 
year 2024.

Financial Development

Revenue

The net sales for January–December 2024 were 
EUR 4,095 (4,025) thousand. The change in net 
sales from the comparison period was EUR 70 
thousand, or 2%. The development of net sales 
was further affected by delays in certain projects 
and the strategic transition towards pay-per-
treatment (PPT) business model.

Profitability and Result

EBITDA for the financial year 2024 was EUR 
-4,836 (-8,539) thousand, or -118 (-212) % of 
net sales. Operating profit (EBIT) was EUR -8,337 
(-12,132) thousand, or -204 (-301) % of net sales. 
The result for the financial period was EUR -6,447 
(-11,861) thousand and earnings per share (EPS) 
was EUR -0.15 (-0.28). Profitability was improved 
by a decrease in non-recurring costs related to the 
investment program.

Balance Sheet, Financing and Investments

In 2024, investments in tangible and intangible as-
sets amounted to EUR 4,900 (9,735) thousand. The 
decrease in capitalized investments was primarily 
due to decreased investments in tangible assets 
after the completion of the investment program. 

Free cash flow from operating activities was EUR 
-9,736 (-18,274) thousand. Cash flow from oper-
ating activities was EUR -825 (-7,281) thousand.

The Group’s cash and other cash equivalents on 
31 December 2024 amounted to EUR 17,407 
(25,131) thousand.

Net debt on 31 December 2024 was EUR -12,864 
(-18,586) thousand and gearing was -26 (-33) 
%. The equity ratio was 88 (87) %. The return on 
equity in 2024 was -12 (-21) %.

Capitalized development costs were EUR 3,407 
(3,349) thousand, or 27 (19) % of total operating 
expenses.

The total amount of trade receivables on 31 
December 2024 was EUR 1,128 (915) thousand. 
The company considers the risks related to trade 
receivables to be reasonable.

Personnel and Management

The number of employees (FTE) on 31 December 
2024 was 66 (70), and the average number of 
employees in January–December 2024 was 71 
(70). Personnel expenses in 2024 totaled EUR 
6,231 (5,757) thousand.

On December 31, 2024, the members of Mod-
ulight Corporation’s Management Team were 
Seppo Orsila (CEO), Anca Guina (CFO), Ulla Haap-
anen (Marketing Director), Kati Reiman (People 
& Culture Director), Jari Sillanpää (Vice President, 
Sales), Petteri Uusimaa (Chief Technology Offi-
cer), Kalle Palomäki (Vice President, New Product 
Introduction), Jukka-Pekka Alanko (Service 
Director) and Ville Vilokkinen (Vice President, 
Operations).

At the end of the financial year, the Board of 
Directors of Modulight Corporation consisted of 
Anne Koutonen (Chairman), Jyrki Liljeroos, Pia 
Kantola, Timur Kärki and Seppo Orsila.

Research and Development

Modulight develops products and technologies 
at the interface of three deep areas of exper-
tise: drugs and treatments for cancer and eye 
diseases, cloud-connected medical devices, and 
semiconductor and laser technologies. In 2024, 
capitalized development expenses amounted to 
EUR 3,407 (3,349) thousand, i.e. 27 (19) % of 
total operating expenses.

The solutions developed together with phar-
maceutical companies and top universities are 
based on Modulight’s own product platforms and 
technologies, which are also actively protected 

KEY FIGURES, GROUP

EUR 1,000 unless otherwise noted 1-12/2024 1-12/2023 1-12/2022
Revenue 4,095 4,025 4,599 
EBITDA -4,836 -8,539 -5,936 
EBITDA-% -118.1 % -212.1 % -129.1 % 
Operating result (EBIT) -8,337 -12,132 -7,792 
Operating result  (EBIT) margin %  -203.6 % -301.4 % -169.4 % 
Earnings for the period -6,447 -11,861 -8,552 
Earnings per share (EPS, EUR) -0.15 -0.28 -0.20 
Acquisition of fixed and intangible assets -4,900 -9,735 -13,694 
Free cash flow from operating activities -9,736 -18,274 -19,630 
Cash and cash equivalents  1)  17,407 25,131 43,870 
Net debt 1) -12 864 -18,586 -35,586 
Gearing ratio 1) -26.1 % -33.4 % -52.7 % 
Equity ratio 1) 87.5 % 87.1 % 86.3 %  
Headcount (FTE) ¹⁾ 66 70 62 
1) The figure refers to the situation at the end of the period.



22

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT       

by patents. Modulight builds its patent portfolio 
mainly around cloud-connected treatment and 
diagnostic devices and related technologies, 
including business models and analytics.  
The company aims to protect its technology 
primarily in the United States and extends the 
protection to Europe and Asia as needed.

The company holds six active patents in the 
United States. These patents provide a strong 
technological foundation for the implementa-
tion of treatment-based business models and 
treatment monitoring, which are part of the 
company’s strategy. Additionally, the company 
has a total of 17 patent families under evaluation 
in the United States and internationally. These 
active patent families relate to areas such as flu-
orescence imaging, optical treatment monitoring, 
theragnostic, flow cytometry, gene sequencing, 
treatment usability, light-activated drug delivery, 
and specific semiconductor processes.

Sustainable Development

The focus of Modulight’s work is on medical 
technology products that improve people’s lives 
and help fight serious diseases. Additionally, 
Modulight manufactures products for various 
high value-add applications, such as quantum 
computing. Thus, its handprint, i.e.,positive 
impact on society is significant in relation to the 
company’s size, and correspondingly, its footprint 
is small. The negative impacts of operations are 
mainly caused by procurement, work and busi-
ness travel, and fixed asset investments.

Modulight is very ambitious in its approach 
to sustainability. The company develops its 

business in line with corporate responsibility, 
thus supporting sustainable development in 
accordance with its sustainability program. 
Sustainability is ensured in all operations and 
is communicated and reported in an open 
and transparent manner. The company’s own 
emissions from operations (scope 1 and 2) have 
decreased by 77% compared to 2022.

Modulight has identified its key sustainability 
themes based on the needs and wishes of its 
stakeholders. The sustainability themes have 
been divided into social, economic and envi-
ronmental responsibility. In order to promote 
responsibility and sustainable development, 
Modulight has set targets and key performance 
indicators, as well as measures to achieve the 
targets, and compiled the information in its re-
sponsibility program. The implementation of the 
program is monitored by the Management Team 
and the Board of Directors, which is ultimately 
responsible for developing the business in a 
more sustainable direction. 

Social Responsibility

Modulight’s social responsibility emphasizes pas-
sion for work, continuous renewal and respectful 
treatment of all people. Product safety and product 
reliability are also an important part of social 
responsibility. 

Modulight calls its personnel the “Laser family”, 
which describes the strong team spirit among 
the personnel. The company offers its employees 
challenging and varied tasks and the opportunity 
to develop their skills in an international working 
community. Well-being at work is the result of 

meaningful tasks, good team spirit and leadership, 
and a good work-life balance.

Modulight’s number of personnel (FTE) de-
creased 6% in 2024 and was 66 at the end of 
the year (70). Personnel turnover was 10% 
(3.3%). Modulight’s business requires specific 
skills, and competition for talent remains tough, 
but the company’s excellent reputation as an 
employer supports recruitment. As a result, job 
satisfaction is at a high level. The ESS survey 
conducted during 2023 gave an overall satisfac-
tion score of 4.0 on a scale of 1 to 5 (2022: 4.1). 
In 2024, the employee survey was not conduct-
ed. Modulight’s personnel expenses in 2024 
amounted to EUR 6.2 million (2023: 5.8). 

Modulight is proud of its diversity: there are more 
than ten different nationalities and a fairly even 
gender balance in the workforce: the share of 
female employees is 40% and that of male em-
ployees 60%. Efforts are being made to achieve 
a diverse composition of the Management Team 
and the Board of Directors whose competences 
support the needs of the company. In 2024, 
three of the nine members of the Management 
Team were women, and correspondingly, there 
were two women and three men on the Board of 
Directors. 

 Modulight offers its employees equal oppor-
tunities, respectful treatment and freedom of 
association. Employment contracts comply with 
local laws and collective agreements. The compa-
ny engages in constructive and regular dialogue 
with its employees.

Competence Development

Personnel development, promoting career 
paths and providing training opportunities are 
essential in ensuring personnel motivation and 
well-being, but also in maintaining Modulight’s 
product development and innovation capabilities. 
About 90 percent of Modulight’s employees 
have a university degree, and there are also 
several PhD experts in the Laser family. On the 
other hand , many students have started their 
careers at Modulight either through a thesis or 
an internship.

Modulight offers its personnel a wide range 
of training and development opportunities. A 
significant opportunity for skills development 
comes through a wide range of projects including 
product development. 

Working Conditions

Modulight provides a safe and healthy workplace 
for all its employees and actively implements 
measures to prevent accidents and work-related 
illnesses. In Modulight’s production, the risk of 
accidents is low, and attention is paid to working 
postures and ergonomics. In office work, stress 
comes from demanding work and deadline 
pressure. All operations comply with occupation-
al health and safety legislation and regulations. 
With the aim of zero accidents at work, all health 
and safety risks are requested to be immediately 
reported. 

In 2024, there were no serious accidents at work, 
neither in 2023, and the number of sickness 
absences was 0.9% (0.7%) with the target being 
less than three percent of all hours worked. 
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Human Rights and Equality

Modulight respects human rights and complies 
with the UN Universal Declaration of Human 
Rights, the International Labour Organisation 
(ILO) Declaration on Fundamental Principles 
and Rights at Work and the OECD Guidelines for 
Multinational Enterprises. The company does 
not tolerate any form of inappropriate behavior, 
discrimination, bullying or harassment. These 
principles are also applied in the cooperation 
between Modulight and its partners. 

The company’s daily operations are guided by 
the Code of Conduct which is part of induction 
training. The company has up-to-date per-
sonnel information systems and databases, as 
well as a data protection policy. In addition to 
rigorous internal controls, Modulight provides a 
Whistleblowing channel for its stakeholders to 
anonymously report concerns about inappro-
priate behavior. In 2024, no violations of the 
above-mentioned laws, regulations or policies 
were confirmed, nor in 2023.

 As part of its social responsibility, Modulight is 
involved in charitable activities and supports the 
local children’s cancer clinic, local universities and 
junior sports teams.

Environmental Responsibility

Energy efficiency in products and production, 
high standards of materials management and 
reducing the environmental impact of own 
operations are key environmental themes. 
Environmental impacts are mainly caused by 
procurement, business travel and capital goods 
investments. There are also negative impacts 

from materials and equipment required for 
operations. However, the energy intensity of 
Modulight’s production, as well as that of the 
life cycle of its products, is low. 

Modulight has calculated its carbon footprint. 
The calculations cover Scope 1, 2 and Scope 
3 GHG emissions, excluding the products’ in-
use emissions. In 2024, total emissions were 
calculated to be 1,212 t CO₂e (725 t CO₂e). The 
company’s own emissions from operations 
(scope 1 and 2) have decreased by 77% com-
pared to 2022.

The most significant single source of emissions 
was procurement, which caused CO₂e emissions 
of 511 tons. Business travel was the second 
most significant source of emissions at 335 tons 
of CO₂e emissions. Air travel is necessary for 
Modulight, as the company’s main markets and 
customers are located abroad, particularly in the 
U.S., and sales success in the company’s business 
also requires face-to-face meetings. 

Efforts to reduce carbon dioxide emissions 
have focused on improving production energy 
efficiency and the energy sources used. A sig-
nificant portion of emissions was caused by 
the heating of Modulight’s property. In 2023, 
a major investment was initiated to transition 
from district heating to geothermal heating. 
The implementation of this investment took 
place in 2024, leading to a significant further 
reduction in Modulight’s operational emis-
sions during the year. In 2024, all purchased 
electricity continued to consist entirely of 
wind-certified renewable energy.  
 

As a result, the avoided emissions amounted 
to 1,274 t CO₂e compared to Finland’s electric-
ity residual mix in 2023.

Modulight also holds WWF Finland’s Green Office 
certificate, which demonstrates the company’s 
work in reducing its carbon footprint and con-
sumption of natural resources. 

Ensuring the quality of production is part of 
reducing environmental impacts. Modulight 
is certified to the ISO 14001 environmental 
standard, and resource efficiency in production 
is continuously improved. Modulight’s business 
generates relatively little waste, and its recycling 
is at a high level. All chemical waste generated 
in the processes is neutralized or recycled ap-
propriately. The amount of waste and effluent is 
very small, as they cause less than four percent 
of emissions.

Economic Responsibility

Governance

Modulight’s corporate governance complies with 
the Finnish Limited Liability Companies Act and 
the Finnish Securities Market Association’s Cor-
porate Governance Code 2020, as well as Mod-
ulight’s Articles of Association. The Corporate 
Governance Statement is published together 
with the Financial Statements, the Report of the 
Board of Directors and the Remuneration Report 
on the company’s website. Further information 
on Modulight’s corporate governance is available 
on the company’s website.

On December 31, 2024, the members of 
Modulight Corporation’s Management Team 

were Seppo Orsila (CEO), Anca Guina (CFO), Ulla 
Haapanen (Marketing Director), Kati Reiman 
(People & Culture Director), Jari Sillanpää 
(Vice President, Sales), Petteri Uusimaa 
(Chief Technology Officer), Kalle Palomäki 
(Vice President, New Product Introduction), 
Jukka-Pekka Alanko (Service Director) and Ville 
Vilokkinen (Vice President, Operations).

At the end of the financial year, the Board of 
Directors of Modulight Corporation consisted of 
Anne Koutonen (Chairman), Jyrki Liljeroos, Pia 
Kantola, Timur Kärki and Seppo Orsila.

Anti-Corruption Activities

Modulight’s business is based on fair competi-
tion, zero tolerance for corruption and bribery 
and the prevention of money laundering. The 
company maintains strict anti-corruption 
practices and careful controls. Modulight has 
not identified any specific risk of corruption and 
bribery in its normal risk management. 

In addition to laws, regulations and operating 
principles, the company’s operations are guided 
by its Code of Conduct. Compliance with similar 
operating guidelines is also required from our 
partners, although they have not yet been 
required to sign a code of ethics. At the end of 
2024, 78% of the vendors identified as critical 
have now committed to the Code.

Risks

Modulight has included sustainability risks as 
part of its usual risk management, and they are 
presented in the Report of the Board of Directors 
under Risks and uncertainties.
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Resolutions of the Annual General 
Meeting

The Annual General Meeting of Modulight Cor-
poration was held on May 2, 2024. The Annual 
General meeting adopted the company’s financial 
statements for the financial period of Janu-
ary 1–December 31, 2023, and discharged the 
members of the Board of Directors and the CEO 
from liability for the financial period of January 
1–December 31, 2023. Additionally, the Annual 
General Meeting approved the Board of Directors’ 
proposal that the result for the year 2023 of 
EUR -11,773 thousand would be transferred to 
retained earnings and that dividends would not 
be paid. 

The Annual General Meeting resolved that the 
Board of Directors consists of five members. 
Jyrki Liljeroos, Seppo Orsila, Pia Kantola, Timur 
Kärki and Anne Koutonen were re-elected as 
members of the Board. In the Board’s inaugural 
meeting after the Annual General Meeting, Anne 
Koutonen was elected as the Chair of the Board. 
Anne Koutonen (Chair), Jyrki Liljeroos, Pia Kantola 
and Timur Kärki were elected as members of 
the Remuneration Committee of the Board of 
Directors. 

The Annual General Meeting adopted the Remu-
neration Report for the Governing Bodies. 

Authorized Public Accounting firm Moore Idman 
Oy was re-elected as the auditor of the company 
for a term that will end at the end of the next 
Annual General Meeting. Jari Paloniemi, Autho-
rised Public Accountant, will be the auditor with 
principal responsibility. 

The Annual General Meeting decided to autho-
rize the Board of Directors to decide upon the 
acquisition of a maximum of 4,261,694 of the 
company’s own shares and/or accepting the 
same number of the company’s own shares as a 
pledge, in one or several tranches, by using the 
company’s unrestricted equity. The maximum 
total of shares that will be acquired and/or ac-
cepted as a pledge corresponds to approximately 
10% of all shares in the company as of the date 
of the notice to the Annual General Meeting. 
However, the company cannot, together with its 
subsidiaries, own its own shares or accept them 
as a pledge altogether more than 10% of the 
company’s all shares at any point in time. The 
shares will be repurchased otherwise than in 
proportion to the holdings of the shareholders 
via public trading arranged by Nasdaq Helsinki 
Oy at the market price that applies on the date 
of the repurchase or at a price otherwise formed 
on the market. Shares can be acquired and/or 
accepted as a pledge e.g., in order to execute a 
transaction or implement share-based incentive 
schemes or for other purposes as decided by the 
Board of Directors or otherwise for the purposes 
of further assignation, retention or cancellation. 
The Board of Directors is authorized to decide on 
all other terms and conditions that will apply to 
the acquisition and/or acceptance as a pledge of 
the company’s own shares. The authorization is 
valid until the closing of the next Annual General 
Meeting, however, no longer than June 30, 2025. 

The Annual General Meeting resolved to au-
thorize the Board of Directors to resolve on the 
issuance of shares as well as the issuance of 
option rights and other special rights entitling 

SHARES AND SHAREHOLDERS

Shareholder Number of shares % of shares and votes
1 Seppo Orsila 6,205,500 14.56 %
2 Petteri Uusimaa 6,205,500 14.56 %
3 Pekka Savolainen 3,276,074 7.69 %
4 Varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company 3,054,422 7.17 %
5 Ville Vilokkinen 3,039,750 7.13 %
6 Petri Melanen 2,173,500 5.10 %
7 Pekko Sipilä 1,630,125 3.83 %
8 Mika Saarinen 1,630,125 3.83 %
9 TIN Funds 827,109 1.94 %
10 Didner & Gerge Funds 670,320 1.57 %
11 Mandatum Life Insurance Company 553,140 1.30 %
12 Ancuta Guina 500,000 1.17 %
13 Juha Lemmetti 460,950 1.08 %
14 Jyri Merivirta 414,855 0.97 %
15 Jyrki Liljeroos 364,504 0.86 %
16 Kalle Palomäki 293,580 0.69 %
17 Protean Funds Scandinavia 281,250 0.66 %
18 Hubert Jouve 200,737 0.47 %
19 Kati Reiman 149,957 0.35 %
20 Aktia Asset Management 133,778 0.31 %

Option Program 2021 2023
Authorization given by the general meeting 852,758 500,000
Option rights granted according to authorization 667,021 434,924
Option rights not granted according to authorization 185,737 65,076
Of the options granted, exercised 0 0
Unused Options 667,021 434,924
Subscription Price EUR 6.49 2.43
Subscription Period Dec 31, 2023 – Dec 31, 2025 Dec 31, 2025 – Dec 31, 2028
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to shares referred to in Chapter 10, section 1 of 
the Finnish Limited Liability Companies Act, in 
one or several tranches, either against payment 
or without payment. The number of shares 
to be issued, including the shares received on 
the basis of the option rights and other special 
rights, may not exceed 4,261,694 shares, which 
amounts to approximately 10% of all shares in 
the company as of the date of the notice to the 
Annual General Meeting. The Board of Direc-
tors may decide to either issue new shares or 
to assign company shares that are held by the 
company. The authorization remains in force until 
the end of the next Annual General Meeting, 
however not for longer than until June 30, 2025. 
This authorization revokes any existing, unused 
authorizations to decide on a share issue and the 
issuance of option rights or other special rights 
entitling to shares. 

The minutes of the Annual General Meeting can 
be viewed on the company’s website at https://
modulight.com/agm2024/.

Shares and Shareholders

Modulight has one share class, and all shares carry 
equal voting rights and the right to dividends and 
company assets. The number of shares on 31 De-
cember 2024 was 42,616,936 (42,616,936). At the 
end of the financial year, the company held 130,939 
(51,123) of its own shares. During the financial year, 
79,816 new own shares were acquired.

The company’s shares are traded on the First 
North Growth Market Finland marketplace 
maintained by Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd. During the 
financial year, the highest price of the share was 
EUR 1.55 (4.34) and the lowest price was EUR 

0.70 (1.02). The weighted average price of the 
share during the financial year was EUR 1.04 
(2.29). The closing price on 30 December 2024 
was EUR 0.96 (1.17). On 31 December 2024, the 
Group’s market capitalization was EUR 40,912 
(49,862) thousand.

On 31 December 2024, Modulight Corporation had 
12,080 (11,977) shareholders. The members of the 
Board of Directors, the CEO and the Management 
Team owned 41.0 (41.2) % of the shares, and the 
20 largest shareholders held 75.2 (80.0) % of the 
total number of shares. The 20 largest sharehold-
ers of Modulight Corporation on 31 December 2024 
are presented in the table on page 24.

Option Programs

Modulight has offered its personnel stock option 
programs as part of the incentive and commit-
ment program.  The company had two option 
programs at the end of 2024. There was a total 
of 1,101,945 unused options on December 31, 
2024. No new shares were subscribed with stock 
options during 2024. 

Outstanding option programs are presented in 
the table on page 24.

Related Party Transactions

There were no related party transactions in the 
financial year 2024.

Assessment of Short-Term Risks and 
Uncertainties

Modulight’s short-term risks and uncertainties 
primarily concern the company’s business and 
industry. These risks relate, for example, to 

technological developments and the competitive 
situation, the supply chain, the availability of ma-
terials, and the development of the healthcare 
sector. In addition, there are risks associated with 
the company’s intellectual property rights, as 
well as with obtaining market authorizations for 
products. The general global political situation 
may affect both customers and the company 
and its business significantly and more than 
previously estimated.

The company operates in the medical and 
biomedical field and focuses especially on the 
US market. Various product and patient liability 
issues can be a significant risk for the company.

Increasing cybercrime can also be a significant 
and growing risk, especially since the company is 
now more widely recognized. The company may 
suffer malfunctions or outages in its information 
technology, network or communications systems 
and/or be subject to cyber security breaches.

The company is also exposed to credit and coun-
terparty risks, if its contractual parties are unable 
to fulfil their contractual obligations. Counterpar-
ty risk is mainly related to trade receivables and 
receivables related to financing instruments. 

Events After the Reporting Period

The company announced on February 25, 2025, 
that it had received orders for prototypes used in 
a scalable, fault-tolerant, and general-purpose 
quantum computer. The total value of the orders 
is approximately $0.8 million, with deliveries 
expected to take place during 2025.

Outlook for 2025

Most of Modulight’s customer projects are 
various types in the early stages of develop-
ment. These projects are focused on commer-
cializing Modulight’s own products. In line with 
its strategy, Modulight is also transitioning 
from device delivery-based payments to a new 
treatment-session-based payment model (PPT 
business model). The progress of individual proj-
ects is difficult to predict, and macroeconomic 
and geopolitical uncertainty continue to impact 
market development. As a result, forecasting 
revenue is challenging, and Modulight does not 
provide guidance on revenue or profitability for 
the year 2025.

Board of Directors’ Proposal for the 
Distribution of Distributable Funds

The distributable equity of the Group’s parent 
company Modulight Oyj on 31 December 2024 
was EUR 38,945 (46,960) thousand. The compa-
ny’s Board of Directors proposes to the Annual 
General Meeting that no dividend be distributed 
for the 2024 financial year.

Annual General Meeting 2025

The Annual General Meeting is scheduled to 
be held on 2 May 2025. The meeting will be 
convened later by the Board of Directors of 
Modulight Corporation.
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Financial Statements January 1 ‒ December 31, 2024

Consolidated income statement (FAS)

EUR 1,000 2024 2023
REVENUE 4,095 4,025

Change in inventory 197 304

Manufacturing for own use 3,407 3,349

Other operating income 64 1,171

Raw materials and services

Raw materials and consumables

Purchases during reporting period -1,312 -2,693

Change in inventory -426  -2

External services -176 - 571

Total raw materials and services -1,914 -3,266

Personnel expenses

Wages and salaries -5,201 -4,792

 Social security services

Pension expenses -886 - 851

Other social security services -144 - 115

Total personnel expenses -6,231 -5,757

EUR 1,000 2024 2023

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization according to plan -3,501 -3,593

Other operating expenses -4,453 -8,365

Operating profit (loss) -8,337 -12,132

Financial income and expenses

Other interest and financial income 2,099 246

Interest and financial expenses -210 26

Total financial income and expenses 1,890 272

Profit (loss) before appropriations and taxes -6,447 -11,860

Income taxes -1

PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE REPORTING PERIOD -6,447 -11,861
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Consolidated balance sheet (FAS)

EUR 1,000 Dec 31, 2024 Dec 31, 2023
ASSETS

Non-current assets

Intangible assets

Development expenditure 10,843 8,916

Intangible rights 55

Total intangible assets 10,898 8,916

Fixed assets

Buildings and structures 3,157 3,326

Machinery and equipment 20,960 21,266

Other fixed assets 176 285

Total fixed assets 24,294 24,877

Total non-current assets 35,192 33,793

Current assets

Inventory

Raw materials and consumables 1,131 1,560

Finished products 1,190 993

Total inventory 2,321 2,553

Receivables

Short-term receivables

Sales receivable 1,128 915

Other receivables 111 1,359

Prepayments and accrued income 137  211

Total short-term receivables 1,376 2,485

Financial securities 24,721

Cash and cash equivalents 17,407 409

Total current assets 21,104 30,169

TOTAL ASSETS 56,296 63,962

EUR 1,000 Dec 31, 2024 Dec 31, 2023

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Share capital 80  80

Reserve for invested unrestricted equity 75,308 75,317

Retained earnings -19,659  -7,809

Earnings for the reporting period -6,447 -11,861

Total equity 49,282 55,727

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Loans from financial institutions 2,791 4,543

Total non-current liabilities 2,791 4,543

Current liabilities

Loans from financial institutions 1,752 2,002

Advances received 451 55

Accounts payable 659 569

Other liabilities 123 136

Accrued expenses 1,238 930

Total current liabilities 4,223 3,692

Total liabilities 7,014 8,235

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 56,296 63,962



28

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS       

Consolidated cash flow statement

EUR 1,000 Dec 31, 2024 Dec 31, 2023
Cash flow from operating activities

Operating profit -8,337 -12,132

Depreciation and amortization 3,501 3,593

Net financial expenses 1,890 272

Change in working capital 2,121 986

Taxes paid  -1

Cash flow from operating activities (A) -825 -7,281

Cash flow from investing activities

Investments in tangible and intangible assets -5,009 -15,695

Advance payments 109 5,960

Cash flow from investing activities (B) -4,900 -9,735

Cash flow from financing activities

Change in interest-bearing debts -2,002 -1,739

Acquisition (-) / disposal (+) of treasury shares -9 -16

Cash flow from financing activities (C) -2,011 -1,755

Net cash flow (A+B+C) -7,736 -18,772

Cash at the beginning of the period 25,131 43,870

Exchange rate differences 12 33

CASH AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 17,407 25,131
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Parent company: Modulight Corporation 
Domicile: Tampere

Notes to the financial statements

Accounting Principles for 
Consolidated Financial Statements 
Modulight Oyj is the parent company of the Mod-
ulight Group. The financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with Finnish Accounting 
Standards (FAS). Modulight Oyj and the Modulight 
Group are domiciled in Tampere and their regis-
tered address is Hermiankatu 22, 33720 Tampere. 
A copy of the financial statements is available from 
the parent company’s head office. The income 
statement of the subsidiary Modulight USA, Inc. has 
been converted into euros at the average exchange 
rate of the financial period, and the balance sheet 
at the exchange rate of the balance sheet date.

Changes in Group Structure
There have been no changes in the Group struc-
ture during the financial year.

Internal Transactions and Margins
Intra-group transactions, intra-group receivables 
and liabilities, intra-group profit distribution and 
intra-group margin have been eliminated. All 
Group companies have been consolidated in the 

consolidated financial statements. The consoli-
dated financial statements have been prepared 
using the acquisition cost method.

Valuation Principles and Methods
Valuation Principles for Non-Current 
Assets
Development costs included in non-current assets 
consisted mainly of product development costs 
related to products being developed for commer-
cial use. Development costs have been capitalized 
prudently. The condition for capitalization is that 
the capitalized item is likely to generate income 
at least equal to the capitalized amount after the 
end of the capitalization period.		

Tangible assets in the balance sheet are valued 
at acquisition cost less planned depreciation. 

Valuation Principles for Current Assets
The value of the inventory is presented at the 
acquisition value or at lower fair value. 

Financial securities include low-risk fund invest-
ments that can be easily converted into cash. In-
vestments are marked to their acquisition value or 
to a lower fair value at the end of the financial year.

Fund investments have been recorded at the 
lower of their acquisition value or fair value at 
the balance sheet date.

Cash and cash equivalents include assets in the 
parent company’s bank accounts. Loans from 
financial institutions are divided into current and 
non-current liabilities in the balance sheet based 
on their projected payment date. Interest ex-
pense is recognized as an expense in the period 
in which it is incurred.

Accounts receivable, accrued income and other 
receivables included in financial assets are valued 
at their nominal value or to its lower probable 
value. Receivables are recognized as credit losses 
based on a case-by-case risk assessment, when 
there is sufficient evidence that the claim will not 
be received on the original terms. 

Conversion Rate of Financial Statements 
of a Foreign Subsidiary
The profit and loss statements of foreign sub-
sidiaries have been converted into euros at the 
average exchange rate of the financial period, 
and the balance sheets at the exchange rate of 
the balance sheet date.

Foreign Currency Items	
Exchange rate differences are presented in the 
income statement under financial income and ex-
penses. Foreign currency liabilities and receivables 
open at the balance sheet date have been adjusted 

to the exchange rate at the balance sheet date if 
the value of the liability exceeds the book value or 
the value of the receivable is below book value.

Principles for Accruals
Revenue Model
The company’s revenue model can be roughly 
divided in four phases that have similar elements 
in both business areas, Life Sciences and other 
high value-add applications. 

With respect to customers in the medical and 
biomedical fields, the first phase is usually the 
preclinical trial phase, which is followed by the 
clinical trial phase I or pilot production.  
The following phases are clinical trial phases II 
and III, and the last phase of the model is launch-
ing an active product portfolio on the market, 
which the company strives for. The commercial 
commissioning stage is considered to have been 
rendered as the company’s revenue exceeds EUR 
10 million for this product/client. 

With respect to products in the other high val-
ue-add applications, the revenue model typically 
consists of the proof of concept (POC), pilot 
production, product development, market launch, 
and production. 
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In each of the phases, the company’s customer 
strategy is to cover the entire process from proof 
of concept to active product portfolio, which may 
significantly help its customers to decrease their 
time to market and increase the value of their 
product. This is due to a variety of factors, includ-
ing the company’s current product platforms and 
solutions, the company’s agile product develop-
ment process that is based on its own production, 
the earlier approvals granted by the relevant 
authority for the company’s platform solutions, 
and the company’s full service offering and cloud-
based service model. The company believes that 
cloud services can be applied to both product ar-
eas even though they have been initially designed 
for medical and biomedical applications.

The company’s intention is that clients in the 
medical and biomedical fields benefit from a 
shorter time-to-market when using the com-
pany’s existing product platforms and CE mark 
or the approvals that the FDA has previously 
granted to the platforms. 

In terms of products in other high value-add 
applications, the proof-of-concept phase can uti-
lize existing products and product platforms for 
initial testing, which aim to create cost and time 
savings for the customers. The customers are 
usually companies that seek long-term competi-
tive advantages in the field of laser technology.

In the preclinical phase, the company typically 
charges a fixed fee per project, which may in-
clude equipment and services. In this phase, the 
fixed fee per project is approximately between 
EUR 10,000 and EUR 150,000 for universities 

and between EUR 100,000 and EUR 1,000,000 
for early-stage medical research and other high 
value-add projects.

In the clinical phase I, the company typically 
delivers a full offering to the customer, including 
e.g., testing and documentation related to device 
approvals, installation of research equipment, and 
training of research personnel. Again, the inten-
tion of the company is that customers will benefit 
from shorter time to market when using the com-
pany’s CE mark, FDA approvals, and functionalities 
of the device platforms already developed. 

The pilot phase of the products in the other high 
value-add applications typically involves initial test-
ing of the product within the customer’s product or 
process. This phase can be preceded or followed by 
a separate, more extensive development phase in 
which the product or technology is developed to-
gether with the customer, and which may contain 
separate phases of moving to production. In phase I 
and pilot production, the company typically charges 
a fixed fee per project that is based on the comple-
tion of intermediate objectives jointly agreed upon. 
The fixed fee per project is approximately between 
EUR 500,000 and even more than EUR 5,000,000. 
The company also usually charges a service fee 
equal to approximately 25% of the customer’s 
cumulative device purchases.

In clinical trial phases II–III, the company typically 
aims to offer the full product and service package 
to customers to help them approve and qualify 
the product to commercial production. This usu-
ally includes final product requirements, produc-
tion ramp up plans, software and services plans, 

and distribution plans for commercial roll out. 
With regard to its products that have reached 
phases II–III, the company has typically charged 
a fixed fee per project that includes devices and 
services in different forms. The product devel-
opment projects contain similar elements but 
they usually focus on developing certain product 
characteristics or technologies that are required 
by the customer as part of the customer’s prod-
uct. Product development projects also typically 
involve preparation and production ramp up, de-
velopment of business and service models, and 
management of new product versions. Based on 
the estimate of the company’s management, the 
fixed fee per project is approximately between 
EUR 2 million and EUR 30 million. These phases 
also include a service fee that is based on the 
number of devices in the field but may also in-
clude other service elements. The license/service 
fee equals approximately 25% of the custom-
ers’s cumulative investments.

In the active product portfolio go-to-market 
phase, customer-specific products are intended 
to be in active use. These products can either 
be new products or product lifetime extensions 
through the introduction of new laser compo-
nents or features. The company expects that 
in certain cases, commercial introduction could 
be carried out using product platforms already 
in the market by activating new products in the 
cloud service. The company aims to offer the 
full value chain, including cloud-based business 
services that may in the medical and biomedical 
fields involve e.g., pay per treatment fees, licens-
ing of the treatment or monitoring and usage 

control of drugs or consumables, and analytic 
services aimed at improving the treatment result. 
The services regarding other high value add 
applications may also contain installation and 
maintenance agreements, fees that are based on 
the use or utilization rate, and analytics related 
to improvement of quality or product usage. In 
this phase, the company’s revenue would be 
based on a share of the drug or treatment fee or 
the utilization rate of other high value-add appli-
cations. The company’s management estimates 
that installation and service fees would equal to 
approximately 25% to 35% of the customer’s 
cumulative investments, in addition to which 
the company expects to earn 2% to 20% of the 
customer’s revenue from licensing.

Especially in the medical and biomedical sector, the 
company is moving to a pay-per-treatment (PPT) 
model, where its customers pay for treatments per-
formed instead of purchasing the device. According 
to the company’s estimate, depending on the indi-
cation and market area, the price of one treatment 
session will be approximately EUR 1,000–10,000, 
which typically corresponds to approximately 
1–10% of the total cancer treatment costs. In the 
PPT model, revenue recognition is delayed com-
pared to device sales, but the company estimates 
that it is more even in nature, and invoicing is typi-
cally done on a monthly or quarterly basis based on 
the number of treatments performed. In addition to 
pay-per-treatment pricing, the PPT business model 
can also have other components, such as monthly 
invoicing for device maintenance and services. The 
company aims to switch to a PPT model with its 
customers already in the clinical trial phase.
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Material Items in Other Operating Income

EUR 1,000 2024 2023

Subsidies and grants received 64 1,171

Total 64 1,171

Manufacturing for Own Use

EUR 1,000 2024 2023

Manufacturing for own use, intangible assets 3,407 3,349

Total 3,407 3,349

Salaries, Fees, Pension Expenses and Other Personnel Expenses for the Financial Year

EUR 1,000 2024 2023

Salaries and fees 5,201 4,768

Pension expenses 859 851

Voluntary pensions 27 24

Other personnel expenses 144 115

Total 6,231 5,757

The Group’s statutory and voluntary pension cover is managed by external pension insurance compa-
nies. Voluntary pensions are defined contribution plans that are expensed in the year in which they 
accrue. In a defined contribution plan, the Group’s legal obligation is limited to the amount that has been 
agreed to be paid into the plan.

Average number of employees during the financial 
year (FTE) 2024 2023

White-collar 67 66

Blue-collar 4 4

Total 71 70

Management Salaries and Fees

EUR 1,000 2024 2023

CEO, Board of Directors, Management Team 1,358 1,350

Depreciation According to Plan
Fixed assets have been valued at acquisition cost less planned depreciation. Depreciation of develop-
ment costs begins when income starts to accrue from the capitalised item or when there is a change in 
expected income expectations. Depreciation of tangible assets begins at the time of their introduction.

Depreciation according to plan is calculated on the basis of the economic life as follows:

Depreciation method Depreciation period

Development costs Straight line 5

Buildings and structures Straight line 10-40

Machinery and equipment Straight line 2-15

There have been no changes in the depreciation principles during the financial year.

Notes Related to Subsidiaries and Associates
Companies Consolidated in the Consolidated Financial Statements (Group Structure 
December 31, 2024)

Name Domicile Ownership-%

Modulight Oyj Finland Parent company

Modulight USA, Inc. United States 100

Modulight China Export A Oy Finland 100

Leaptek Photonics Oy Finland 100

Notes to the Consolidated Income Statement
Revenue by Market Area

% of total revenue 2024 2023

Finland 20 5

Rest of the world 80 95

Total 100 100
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Totals of Interest Income, Financial Income, Interest Expenses and Financial Expenses

EUR 1,000 2024 2023

Interest expenses -106 -154

Other financial income 2,096 246

Other financial expenses -100 179

Total 1,890 272

Notes to the Consolidated Balance Sheet Assets

Intangible Assets

Development costs (EUR 1,000) 2024 2023

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 21,097 17,748

Additions for the financial year 3,407 3,349

Deductions for the financial year

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 24,504 21,097

Depreciation according to plan

Accumulated depreciation 1 Jan -12,182 -10,003

Depreciation for the financial year -1,480 -2,178

Accumulated depreciation 31 Dec -13,661 -12,182

Book value in the financial statements 31 Dec 10,843 8,916

Capitalized development costs consist of eight product development projects, all of which have begun 
depreciation. No new product development expenses were capitalized for new projects during the 
financial year.

Intangible rights (EUR 1,000) 2024 2023

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 283 283

Additions for the financial year 89

Deductions for the financial year

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 372 283

Depreciation according to plan

Accumulated depreciation 1 Jan -283 -283

Depreciation for the financial year -34

Depreciation for the financial year -317 -283

Book value in the financial statements 31 Dec 55 0

Tangible Assets

Buildings and structures (EUR 1,000) 2024 2023

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 6,811 6,400

Additions for the financial year 89 411

Deductions for the financial year

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 6,900 6,811

Depreciation according to plan

Accumulated depreciation 1 Jan -3,485 -3,254

Depreciation for the financial year -258 -231

Accumulated depreciation 31 Dec -3,743 -3,485

Book value in the financial statements 31 Dec 3,157 3,326
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Machinery and equipment (EUR 1,000) 2024 2023

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 27,877 15,943

Additions for the financial year 1,424 11,934

Deductions for the financial year

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 29,301 27,877

Depreciation according to plan

Accumulated depreciation 1 Jan -6,611 -5,428

Depreciation for the financial year -1,730 -1,183

Accumulated depreciation 31 Dec -8,341 -6,611

Book value in the financial statements 31 Dec 20,960 21,266

Other fixed assets (EUR 1,000) 2024 2023

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 285 6,245

Additions for the financial year

Deductions for the financial year -109 -5,960

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 176 285

Book value in the financial statements 31 Dec 176 285

Other fixed assets consist of prepayments for fixed asset investments.

Material Items Included in Other Receivables

EUR 1,000 2024 2023

Business Finland 1,209

VAT receivables 111 149

Total 111 1,359

Material Items Included in Prepayments and Accrued Income

EUR 1,000 2024 2023

Cost accruals 56  81

Prepayments 81 130

Total 137  211

Material Items Included in Financial Securities

EUR 1,000 2024 2023

Cash and bank receivables 17,407 409

Fund units 24,721

In total 17,407 25,131

Fund units consist of liquid and low-risk investments in short-term funds.
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Notes to Liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet	

Changes in Equity Items

Restricted equity (EUR 1,000) 2024 2023

Share capital 1 Jan 80 80

Share capital 31 Dec 80 80

Total restricted equity 31 Dec 80 80

Unrestricted equity (EUR 1,000) 2024 2023

Reserve for invested unrestricted equity 1 Jan 75,317 75,334

Increases in the invested unrestricted equity fund -9 -16

Reserve for invested unrestricted equity 31 Jan 75,308 75,317

Profit (loss) for the previous financial years 1.1. -19,671 -7,843

Exchange rate differences 12 34

Profit (loss) for the previous financial years 31.12. -19,659 -7,809

Profit for the financial period -6,447 -11,861

Total non-restricted equity 31 Dec 49,202 55,647

Total equity 31 Dec 49,282 55,727

Material Items Included in Other Liabilities

EUR 1,000 2024 2023

Withholding debt 119 130

Other liabilities 4 6

In total 123 136

Material Items Included in Accrued Expenses

EUR 1,000 2024 2023

Accruals for salaries 169 167

Holiday pay accrual 626 644

Cost accruals 444 119

In total 1,238 930

Long-Term Debt
Liabilities maturing after more than five years:

EUR 1,000 2024 2023

Loans from financial institutions 0 0

Other Notes

Collateral Provided and Other Off-Balance Sheet Liabilities
Liabilities secured by mortgages on real estate and/or corporate mortgages:	

Collateral provided (EUR 1,000) 2024 2023

Collateral provided for own debt

Loans from financial institutions 4,543 6,545

Mortgages granted 4,246 4,246

Mortgages on company assets granted 1,973 1,973

Collateral other than for own debt

Mortgage as security for land rent1) 23 23

Total securities provided 6,242 6,242

1) The company has leased the land under a lease that expires on November 30, 2050. The amount of 
rent is tied to the cost of living index, and for 2024 the rent was EUR 12,110.
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Other off-balance sheet liabilities (EUR 1,000) 2024 2023

Leasing liabilities

Payable in the next financial year 0 16

Payable later 0 22

Total other off - balance sheet liabilities 0 38

Company Shares
The share capital of the parent company of the group, Modulight Oyj, as of December 31, 2024, was 
divided into 42,616,936 shares. All shares carry equal voting rights and entitlement to the company’s 
assets and dividends. At the end of the financial year, the company held a total of 130,939 (51,123) of 
its own shares. During the financial year, 79,816 new own shares were acquired.

Notes on Auditor’s Fees (Moore Idman Oy)
EUR 1,000 2024 2023

Audit fees 25 24

Total auditor fees 25 24

Calculation Formulas for Key Figures
Key figures Definition Reason for the use

Growth of revenue, %
(Revenue for the period - revenue 
for the previous reference period) / 
Revenue for the previous period

Revenue growth is an indicator to mea-
sure the growth of the company.

EBITDA Operating result before depreciation 
and amortization

EBITDA is an indicator to measure the 
operational performance of the company.

EBITDA, % EBITDA / Revenue Operating margin is an indicator to measure 
the operational performance of the company.

Operating result Operating result as presented in the 
income statement

Operating result is an essential indicator 
for the understanding of the company's 
financial performance.

Operating result, % Operating result / Revenue
Operating result is an essential indicator 
for the understanding of the company's 
financial performance.

Earnings per share
Earnings for the period / weighted 
average number of outstanding 
shares during the period

Indicator describes the distribution ofop-
erating result to individual shares.

Acquisition & scrapping on 
fixed and intangible assets

Acquisition & scrapping of fixed and 
intangible assets as presented in the 
statement of cash flow

Indicator produces more information 
on the cash flow needs for operational 
investments.

Free cash flow operating 
activities

EBITDA - Acquisitions & scrapping of 
fixed and intangible assets as pre-
sented in the statement of cash flow

Indicator gives information of the cash 
flow which the company is able to gener-
ate after operational investments.

Net debt Interest-bearing debt - Cash and cash 
equivalents (at the end of the period)

Net debt is an indicator to measure the to-
tal external debt financing of the company.

Gearing ratio 
(Interest-bearing debt + Cash and 
cash equivalents (at the end of the 
period)) / Equity

Indicator for the management to track 
the company’s level of equity.

Equity ratio  Equity / Total equity Indicator for the proportion of the company’s 
assets that have been financed with equity.

Return on equity, %    100 x Earnings for the period / 
Adjusted average equity

Indicator for the company’s ability to 
generate profits in relation to equity 
belonging to the owners.

List of Accounting Books
Diary and general ledger in computer printouts 
Purchase and sales ledger in computer printouts 
All types of documents in paper copy
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Financial Statements of the Parent Company  
January 1 ‒ December 31, 2024
Parent Company Income Statement (FAS)

EUR 1,000 2024 2023
REVENUE 4,095 4,026

Change in inventory 197 304

Manufacturing for own use 3,407 3,349

Other operating income 64 1,178

Raw materials and services

Raw materials and consumables

Purchases during financial year -1,315 -2,693

Change in inventory -429 -2

External services -176 - 571

Total raw materials and services -1,919 -3,266

Personnel expenses

Wages and salaries -4,953 -4,792

Social security expenses

Pension expenses -886 - 851

Other social security expenses -129 - 115

Total personnel expenses -5,967 -5,757

EUR 1,000 2024 2023

Depreciation, amortization and reduction in value

Depreciation and amortization according to plan -3,501 -3,593

Other operating expenses -4,363 -8,226

Operating profit (loss) -7,987 -11,986

Financial income and expenses

Other interest income and financial income 2,091 186

Interest and other financial expenses -183 26

Total financial income and expenses 1,908 212

Profit (loss) before appropriations and taxes -6,079 -11,773

Income taxes

PROFIT (LOSS) OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR -6,079 -11,773
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Parent Company Balance Sheet (FAS)

EUR 1,000 31.12.2024 31.12.2023
ASSETS

Non-current assets

Intangible assets

Development expenditure 10,843 8,916

Intangible rights 55

Total intangible assets 10,898 8,916

Fixed assets

Buildings 3,157 3,326

Machinery and equipment 20,960 21,266

Other fixed assets 181 290

Total fixed assets 24,299 24,882

Total non-current assets 35,197 33,798

Current assets

Inventory

Raw materials and consumables 1,131 1,560

Finished products 1,190 993

Total inventory 2,321 2,553

Sales receivables

Short-term receivables

Accounts receivable 1,077 876

Receivables, group companies 587 328

Other receivables 115 1,359

Prepayments and accrued income 131 172

Total short-term receivables 1,910 2,736

Financial securities 24,721

Cash and cash equivalents 17,397 377

Total current assets 21,628 30,387

TOTAL ASSETS 56,825 64,185

EUR 1,000 31.12.2024 31.12.2023
LIABILITIES 

Equity

Share capital 80 80

Reserve for invested unrestricted equity 75,308 75,317

Retained earnings -19,442 -7,668

Earnings from the period -6,079 -11,773

Total equity 49,868 55,956

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Loans from financial institutions 2,791 4,543

Total non-current liabilities 2,791 4,543

Current liabilities

Loans from financial institutions 1,752 2,002

Advances received 405 55

Accounts payable 648 564

Other liabilities 123 136

Accrued expenses 1,238 930

Total current liabilities 4,166 3,687

Total liabilities 6,957 8,230

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 56,825 64,185
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Notes to the Parent Company’s Financial Statements
Domicile: Tampere, Finland
Notes to the financial statements

Accounting Principles
Modulight Oyj is the parent company of Mod-
ulight Group. The financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with Finnish Accounting 
Standards (FAS). Modulight Oyj and Modulight 
Group are domiciled in Tampere, Finland, and 
their registered address is Hermiankatu 22, 
33720 Tampere, Finland.

Copies of the financial statements are available 
at the headquarters of the parent company. 

Principles for Valuation
Non-Current Assets
Development costs included in non-current assets 
consisted mainly of product development costs 
related to products being developed for commer-
cial use. Development costs have been capitalized 
prudently. The condition for capitalization is that 
the capitalized item is likely to generate income 
at least equal to the capitalized amount after the 
end of the capitalization period.

Tangible assets in the balance sheet are valued 
at acquisition cost less planned depreciation. 

Current Assets
The value of the inventory is presented at the 
acquisition value or at lower fair value. 

Financial securities include low-risk fund 
investments that can be easily converted into 
cash. Investments are marked to their acquisition 
value or to a lower fair value at the end of the 
financial year.

Cash and cash equivalents include assets in the 
parent company’s bank accounts. Loans from 
financial institutions are divided into current and 
non-current liabilities in the balance sheet based 
on their projected payment date. Interest ex-
pense is recognized as an expense in the period 
in which it is incurred.	

Accounts receivable, accrued income and other 
receivables included in financial assets are valued 
at their nominal value or to its lower probable 
value. Receivables are recognized as credit losses 
based on a case-by-case risk assessment, when 
there is sufficient evidence that the claim will not 
be received on the original terms.

	

Principles for Accruals
Revenue Model
The company’s revenue model can be roughly 
divided in four phases that have similar elements 
in both business areas, Life Sciences and other 
high value-add applications. With respect to cus-
tomers in the medical and biomedical fields, the 
first phase is usually the preclinical trial phase, 
which is followed by the clinical trial phase I or 
pilot production. The following phases are clinical 
trial phases II and III, and the last phase of the 
model is launching an active product portfolio on 
the market, which the company strives for. The 
commercial commissioning stage is considered 
to have been rendered as the company’s revenue 
exceeds EUR 10 million for this product/customer. 

With respect to products in the other high val-
ue-add applications, the revenue model typically 
consists of the proof of concept (POC), pilot 
production, product development, market launch, 
and production. 

In each of the phases, the company’s customer 
strategy is to cover the entire process from proof 
of concept to active product portfolio, which may 
significantly help its customers to decrease their 
time to market and increase the value of their 

product. This is due to a variety of factors, includ-
ing the company’s current product platforms and 
solutions, the company’s agile product develop-
ment process that is based on its own production, 
the earlier approvals granted by the relevant 
authority for the company’s platform solutions, 
and the company’s full service offering and cloud-
based service model. The company believes that 
cloud services can be applied to both product ar-
eas even though they have been initially designed 
for medical and biomedical applications.	

The company’s intention is that clients in the 
medical and biomedical fields benefit from a 
shorter time-to-market when using the com-
pany’s existing product platforms and CE mark 
or the approvals that the FDA has previously 
granted to the platforms. 

In terms of products in other high value-add 
applications, the proof-of-concept phase can uti-
lize existing products and product platforms for 
initial testing, which aim to create cost and time 
savings for the customers. The customers are 
usually companies that seek long-term competi-
tive advantages in the field of laser technology.

In the preclinical phase, the company typical-
ly charges a fixed fee per project, which may 
include equipment and services. In this phase, 
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the fixed fee per project is approximately 
between EUR 10,000 and EUR 150,000 for 
universities and between EUR 100,000 and EUR 
1,000,000 for early-stage medical research and 
other high value-add projects.

In the clinical phase I, the company typically 
delivers a full offering to the customer, including 
e.g., testing and documentation related to device 
approvals, installation of research equipment, and 
training of research personnel. Again, the inten-
tion of the company is that customers will benefit 
from shorter time to market when using the com-
pany’s CE mark, FDA approvals, and functionalities 
of the device platforms already developed. 

The pilot phase of the products in the other high 
value-add applications typically involves initial 
testing of the product within the customer’s 
product or process. This phase can be preceded 
or followed by a separate, more extensive devel-
opment phase in which the product or technolo-
gy is developed together with the customer, and 
which may contain separate phases of moving to 
production. In phase I and pilot production, the 
company typically charges a fixed fee per project 
that is based on the completion of intermediate 
objectives jointly agreed upon. The fixed fee per 
project is approximately between EUR 500,000 

and even more than EUR 5,000,000. The com-
pany also usually charges a service fee equal to 
approximately 25% of the customer’s cumulative 
device purchases.	

In clinical trial phases II–III, the company typically 
aims to offer the full product and service package 
to customers to help them approve and qualify 
the product to commercial production. This usu-
ally includes final product requirements, produc-
tion ramp up plans, software and services plans, 
and distribution plans for commercial roll out. 
With regard to its products that have reached 
phases II–III, the company has typically charged 
a fixed fee per project that includes devices and 
services in different forms. The product devel-
opment projects contain similar elements but 
they usually focus on developing certain product 
characteristics or technologies that are required 
by the customer as part of the customer’s prod-
uct. Product development projects also typically 
involve preparation and production ramp up, de-
velopment of business and service models, and 
management of new product versions. Based on 
the estimate of the company’s management, the 
fixed fee per project is approximately between 
EUR 2 million and EUR 30 million. These phases 
also include a service fee that is based on the 

number of devices in the field but may also in-
clude other service elements. The license/service 
fee equals approximately 25% of the custom-
ers’s cumulative investments.

In the active product portfolio go-to-market phase, 
customer-specific products are intended to be 
in active use. These products can either be new 
products or product lifetime extensions through 
the introduction of new laser components or 
features. The company expects that in certain 
cases, commercial introduction could be carried out 
using product platforms already in the market by 
activating new products in the cloud service. 

The company aims to offer the full value chain, 
including cloud-based business services that 
may in the medical and biomedical fields involve 
e.g., pay-per-treatment fees, licensing of the 
treatment or monitoring and usage control of 
drugs or consumables, and analytic services aimed 
at improving the treatment result. The services 
regarding other high value-add applications 
may also contain installation and maintenance 
agreements, fees that are based on the use or uti-
lization rate, and analytics related to improvement 
of quality or product usage. In this phase, the 
company’s revenue is based on a share of the drug 
or treatment fee or the utilization rate of other 

high value-add applications. The company’s man-
agement estimates that installation and service 
fees equal to approximately 25% to 35% of the 
customer’s cumulative investments, in addition to 
which the company expects to earn 2% to 20% of 
the customer’s revenue from licensing.

Especially in the medical and biomedical sector, 
the company is moving to a pay-per-treat-
ment (PPT) model, where its customers pay for 
treatments performed instead of purchasing 
the device. According to the company’s esti-
mate, depending on the indication and market 
area, the price of one treatment session will be 
approximately EUR 1,000–10,000, which typically 
corresponds to approximately 1–10% of the total 
cancer treatment costs. In the PPT model, revenue 
recognition is delayed compared to device sales, 
but the company estimates that it is more even 
in nature, and invoicing is typically done on a 
monthly or quarterly basis based on the number 
of treatments performed. In addition to pay-per-
treatment pricing, the PPT business model can 
also have other components, such as monthly 
invoicing for device maintenance and services. 
The company aims to switch to a PPT model with 
its customers already in the clinical trial phase.



40

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS       

Depreciation According to Plan
Fixed assets have been valued at acquisition cost less planned depreciation. Depreciation of develop-
ment costs begins when income starts to accrue from the capitalised item or when there is a change in 
expected income expectations. Depreciation of tangible assets begins at the time of their introduction.

Depreciation according to plan is calculated on the basis of the economic life as follows:

Depreciation 
method

Depreciation period 
(years)

Development costs Straight line 5

Buildings and structures Straight line 10-40

Machinery and Equipment Straight line 2-15

There have been no changes in the depreciation principles during the financial year.

Foreign Currency Items
Exchange rate differences are presented in the income statement under financial income and 
expenses. Foreign currency liabilities and receivables open at the balance sheet date have been 
adjusted to the exchange rate at the balance sheet date if the value of the liability exceeds the book 
value or the value of the receivable is estimated below it.

Notes Related to Subsidiaries and Associates
Holdings in Other Companies (Group structure December 31, 2024):	

Name Domicile Ownership-%

Modulight Oyj Finland Parent company

Modulight USA, Inc. United States 100

Modulight China Export A Oy Finland 100

Leaptek Photonics Oy Finland 100

Notes to the Income Statement
Revenue by Market Area

% of total revenue 2024 2023

Finland 20 5

Rest of the world 80 95

Total 100 100

Material Items Included in Other Operating Income

EUR 1,000 2024 2023

Subsidies and grants received 64 1,171

Other income 7

Total 64 1,178

Manufacturing for Own Use

EUR 1,000 2024 2023

Manufacturing for own use, intangible assets 3,407 3,349

Total 3,407 3,349

Salaries, Fees, Pension Expenses and Other Personnel Expenses 

EUR 1,000 2024 2023

Salaries and fees 4,953 4,768

Pension expenses 859 851

Voluntary pensions 27 24

Other personnel expenses 129 115

Total 5,967 5,757

The company’s statutory and voluntary pension cover is managed by external pension insurance com-
panies. Voluntary pensions are defined contribution plans that are expensed in the year in which they 
accrue. In a defined contribution plan, the Group’s legal or actual obligation is limited to the amount 
that has been agreed to be paid in the plan.
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Average number of employees during the financial 
year (FTE) 2024 2023

Staff 66 66

Employees 4 4

Total 70 70

Management Salaries and Fees

EUR 1,000 2024 2023

CEO, Board of Directors, Management Team 1,358 1,350

Totals of Interest Income, Financial Income, Interest Expenses and Financial Expenses

EUR 1,000 2024 2023
Interest expenses -106 154

Other financial income 2 091 -185

Other financial expenses -77 -180

Total 1,908 -212

Notes to Assets in the Balance Sheet
Intangible Assets	

Development costs (EUR 1 000) 2024 2023
Acquisition cost 1 Jan 21,097 17,748

Additions for the financial year 3,407 3,349

Deductions for the financial year

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 24,504 21,097

Depreciation according to plan

Accumulated depreciation 1 Jan -12,182 -10,003

Depreciation for the financial year -1,480 -2,178

Accumulated depreciation 31 Dec -13,661 -12,182

Book value in the financial statements 31 Dec 10,843 8,916

Capitalized development costs consist of eight product development projects, all of which have 
begun depreciation. No new product development expenses were capitalized for new projects during 
the financial year.

Intangible rights (EUR 1 000) 2024 2023

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 283 283

Additions for the financial year 89

Deductions for the financial year

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 372 283

Depreciation according to plan

Accumulated depreciation 1 Jan -283 -283

Depreciation for the financial year -34

Accumulated depreciation 31 Dec -317 -283

Book value in the financial statements 31 Dec 55 0
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Tangible Assets
Buildings and structures (EUR 1,000) 2024 2023

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 6,811 6,400

Additions for the financial year 89 411

Deductions for the financial year

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 6,900 6,811

Depreciation according to plan

Accumulated depreciation 1 Jan -3,485 -3,254

Depreciation for the financial year -258 -231

Accumulated depreciation 31 Dec -3,743 -3,485

Book value in the financial statements 31 Dec 3,157 3,326

Machinery and equipment (EUR 1,000) 2024 2023

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 27,877 15,943

Additions for the financial year 1,424 11,934

Deductions for the financial year

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 29,301 27,877

Depreciation according to plan

Accumulated depreciation 1 Jan -6,611 -5,428

Depreciation for the financial year -1,730 -1,183

Accumulated depreciation 31 Dec -8,341 -6,611

Book value in the financial statements 31 Dec 20,960 21,266

Other fixed assets (EUR 1,000) 2024 2023
Acquisition cost 1 Jan 290 6,250

Additions for the financial year

Deductions for the financial year -109 -5,960

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 181 290

Book value in the financial statements 31 Dec 181 290

Other fixed assets include prepayments for fixed asset investments (EUR 176 thousand) and shares in 
subsidiaries (EUR 5 thousand).

Receivables from Group Companies 
Current Receivables	

EUR 1,000 2024 2023

Modulight USA, Inc. 587    328

Intra-group liabilities and receivables have been consolidated and are presented on a net basis.

Material Items Included in Other Receivables	

EUR 1,000 2024 2023
Business Finland 1,209

VAT receivables 115 149

Total 115 1,359

Material Items Included in Prepayments and Accrued Income	
EUR 1,000 2024 2023
Cost accruals 56  48

Prepayments 75  124

Total 131  172

Material Items Included in Financial Securities	
EUR 1,000 2024 2023
Cash and bank receivables 17,397 377

Fund units 24,721

In total 17,397 25,099

The fund units consist of liquid and low-risk investments in short-term funds.
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Notes to Liabilities in the Balance Sheet

Changes in Equity Items and Distributable Funds

Restricted equity (EUR 1,000) 2024 2023

Share capital 1 Jan 80  80

Share capital 31 Dec 80  80

Total restricted equity 31 Dec 80  80

Unrestricted equity (EUR 1,000) 2024 2023

Reserve for invested unrestricted equity 1 Jan 75,317 75,334

Increases in the invested unrestricted equity fund

Decreases in the invested unrestricted equity fund -9 -16

Reserve for invested unrestricted equity 31 Dec 75,308 75,317

Profit (loss) for the previous financial years 1 Jan -19,442 -7,668

Profit (loss) for the previous financial years 31 Dec -19,442 -7,668

Profit (loss) of the financial period -6,079 -11,773

Total non-restricted equity 31 Dec 49,788 55,876

Total equity 31 Dec 49,868 55,956

Calculation of distributable funds (EUR 1,000) 2024 2023

Total non-restricted equity 31 Dec 49,788 55,876

Activated development costs in the balance sheet 31 Dec -10,843 -8,916

Distributable funds 31 Dec 38,945 46,960

Other Liabilities

EUR 1,000 2024 2023

Withholding tax debt 119 130

Other liabilities 4 6

In total 123 136

Material Items Included in Accrued Expenses

EUR 1,000 2024 2023

Accruals for salaries 169 167

Holiday pay accrual 626 644

Cost accruals 444 119

In total 1,238 930

Long-Term Debt
Liabilities maturing after more than five years

EUR 1,000 2024 2023

Loans from financial institutions 0  0

Other Notes

Collateral Provided and Other Off - Balance Sheet Liabilities
Liabilities secured by mortgages on real estate and / or corporate mortgages:

Collateral provided (EUR 1 000) 2024 2023
Collateral provided for own debt

  Loans from financial institutions 4,543 6,545

  Mortgages granted 4,246 4,246

  Mortgages 1,973 1,973

Collateral other than for own debt

  Mortgage as security for land rent ¹⁾ 23 23

Total securities provided 6,242 6,242

1) The company has leased the land under a lease that expires on November 30, 2050. The amount of 
rent is tied to the cost of living index, and for 2024, the rent was EUR 12,110.

Other off-balance sheet liabilities (EUR 1,000) 2024 2023

Leasing liabilities

  Payable in the next financial year 0  16

  Payable later 0 22

Total other off - balance sheet liabilities 0 38
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Company Shares
As of December 31, 2024, the company’s share capital was divided into 42,616,936 shares. All shares 
carry equal voting rights and entitlement to the company’s assets and dividends. At the end of the 
financial year, the company held a total of 130,939 (51,123) of its own shares. During the financial 
year, 79,816 new own shares were acquired. 

Notes on Auditor’s Fees (Moore Idman Oy)

EUR 1,000 2024 2023

Audit fees 25 24

Total auditor fees 25 24

List of Accounting Books
Diary and general ledger in computer printouts 
Purchase and sales ledger in computer printouts 
All types of documents in paper copy
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Signatures on the Financial Statements  
and the Report of the Board of Directors 
In Tampere, March 14, 2025

Anne Koutonen 
Chairman of the Board

Pia Kantola 
Member of the Board

Timur Kärki 
Member of the Board

Jyrki Liljeroos 
Member of the Board

Seppo Orsila 
Member of the Board 
CEO

Auditor’s note: 
An audit report has been issued today.

In Tampere, March 14, 2025

Moore Idman Oy 
Audit firm

Jari Paloniemi 
Authorized Public Accountant
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Auditor’s Report (Translation of the Finnish Original)

To the Annual General Meeting of 
Modulight Corporation

Report on the Audit of Financial 
Statements

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of 
Modulight Oyj (business identity code 1603878-
3) for the year ended 31.12.2024. The financial 
statements comprise the balance sheets, the 
income statements and notes for the group as 
well as for the parent company and cash flow 
statement for the group.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a 
true and fair view of the group’s and the compa-
ny’s financial performance and financial position 
in accordance with the laws and regulations 
governing the preparation of financial state-
ments in Finland and comply with statutory 
requirements.

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with 
good auditing practice in Finland. Our responsi-
bilities under good auditing practice are further 
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the parent com-
pany and of the group companies in accordance 
with the ethical requirements that are applica-
ble in Finland and are relevant to our audit, and 
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibil-
ities in accordance with these requirements. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors 
and the Managing Director for the 
Financial Statements 

The Board of Directors and the Managing 
Director are responsible for the preparation 
of financial statements that give a true and 
fair view in accordance with the laws and 
regulations governing the preparation of finan-
cial statements in Finland and comply with 

statutory requirements. The Board of Directors 
and the Managing Director are also responsible 
for such internal control as they determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of finan-
cial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the 
Board of Directors and the Managing Direc-
tor are responsible for assessing the parent 
company’s and the group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters relating to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting. The 
financial statements are prepared using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless there 
is an intention to liquidate the parent company 
or the group or cease operations, or there is no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assur-
ance about whether the financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 

auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Rea-
sonable assurance is a high level of assurance 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with good auditing practice will 
always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of the financial 
statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with good 
auditing practice, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

	� Identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
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collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

	� Obtain an understanding of internal control 
relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the parent company’s or the group’s internal 
control. 

	� Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by management.

	� Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board 
of Directors’ and the Managing Director’s 
use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and based on the audit evidence obtained, 
whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the parent company’s 
or the group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related 

disclosures in the financial statements or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the company to cease 
to continue as a going concern.

	� Evaluate the overall presentation, structure 
and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the 
financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events so that the financial 
statements give a true and fair view.

	� Plan and perform the group audit to obtain 
sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
regarding the financial information of the 
entities or business units within the group as 
a basis for forming an opinion on the group 
financial statements. We are responsible for 
the direction, supervision and review of the 
audit work performed for purposes of the 
group audit. We remain solely responsible for 
our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with 
governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and sig-
nificant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.

Other Reporting Requirements 

Other information

The Board of Directors and the Managing Direc-
tor are responsible for the other information. The 
other information comprises the report of the 
Board of Directors. Our opinion on the financial 
statements does not cover the other information.

In connection with our audit of the financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the oth-
er information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to 
be materially misstated. Our responsibility also 
includes considering whether the report of the 
Board of Directors has been prepared in compli-
ance with the applicable provisions.

In our opinion, the information in the report of 
the Board of Directors is consistent with the in-
formation in the financial statements and the re-
port of the Board of Directors has been prepared 
in compliance with the applicable provisions.

If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of the report of the Board of Directors, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report in this regard.

Tampere 14.3.2025

Moore Idman Oy 
Audit Firm

Jari Paloniemi 
Certified Public Accountant
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Board of Directors

Anne Koutonen 
Chairman of the Board, 2024–  
Member of the Board, 2023– 
Born 1962 
 M.Sc. (Business Administration) 

Pia Kantola 
Member of the Board, 2021– 
Born 1969 
M.Sc. (Tech.), Master of Business 
Administration and Leadership

Timur Kärki 
Member of the Board, 2021– 
Born 1971 
M.Sc. (Tech.)

Seppo Orsila 
Member of the Board, 2000– 
CEO 2019– 
Born 1975 
M.Sc. (Tech.), MBA

Jyrki Liljeroos 
Member of the Board, 2017–  
Born 1955 
Degree in Business Administration 
(University of Uppsala)
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Seppo Orsila
CEO 2019– 
Member of the 
Management Team 2000– 
Born 1975 
M.Sc. (Tech.), MBA 

Anca Guina
CFO 2024–  
Member of the 
Management Team 2006– 
Born 1974 
M.Sc. (Tech.), MBA  

Jukka-Pekka Alanko
Service Director 2024– 
Member of the 
Management Team 2020– 
Born 1984 
M.Sc. (Tech.)

Ulla Haapanen
Marketing Director 2023– 
Member of the 
Management Team 2019– 
Born 1976 
B.Sc. (Natural Sciences) 

Jari Sillanpää
VP, Sales 2024– 
Member of the 
Management Team 2020–  
Born 1969 
M.Sc. (Tech.)

Petteri Uusimaa
Chief Technology Officer 
2019– 
Member of the 
Management Team 2000– 
Born 1969 
D.Sc.(Tech.)

Ville Vilokkinen
VP, Operations 2024– 
Member of the 
Management Team 2005– 
Born 1975 
M.Sc. (Tech.) 

Management Team

Kalle Palomäki
VP, New Product 
Introduction 2024– 
Member of the 
Management Team 2021– 
Born 1975 
M.Sc. (Tech.),  
MBA (Intl. Finance) 

Kati Reiman
People & Culture Director 
2022– 
Member of the 
Management Team 2019–  
Born 1978  
Bachelor of Business 
Administration 
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Information for Shareholders

Modulight Corporation has one class of shares, 
and all shares have the same voting rights 
and the right to a dividend and the company’s 
assets. The company’s share is traded on the 
First North Growth Market Finland marketplace 
maintained by Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd under the 
trading ID MODU.  

Dividend policy

All returns are invested in organic and inorganic 
growth, and the company distributes little or no 
dividends.

Distribution of distributable funds

Modulight’s Board of Directors proposes to the 
Annual General Meeting that no dividend be 
paid for the financial year 2024.

Annual General Meeting 

The Annual General Meeting is scheduled to 
be held on 2 May 2025. The meeting will be 
convened later by the Board of Directors of 
Modulight Corporation.

Financial reporting in 2025

 In 2025, Modulight will publish the following 
financial reports: 

	� Interim report January–March 2025: 25 April 
2025

	� Half-year financial report January–June 
2025: 22 August 2025

	� Interim report January–September 2025: 24 
October 2025

The financial reports are available on the com-
pany’s website from the time of publication at 
https://modulight.com/reports-presentations/. 
The company has a 30-day silent period before 
the publication of interim reports and financial 
statements bulletins.

Investor relations

Seppo Orsila 
CEO 
+358 40 830 4671 
seppo.orsila@modulight.com

Anca Guina 
Finance Director 
+358 40 830 4674 
anca.guina@modulight.com

Ulla Haapanen 
Marketing Director 
+358 40 830 4676 
ulla.haapanen@modulight.com



4041     0704
Painotuote

We Use an Environmentally Certified Printing House

The Nordic environmental mark tells impartially about the environmental friendliness of the 
product and service - without forgetting the safety and quality of the product. It guides us towards 
responsible, environmentally conscious consumption. 

The brand can only be found on the best products and services in terms of the environment and 
health. The Nordic environmental mark shows that the product is a good environmentally friendly 
choice. In order for a product or service to receive the Nordic environmental mark, it must meet the 
criteria based on sustainable thinking. The green symbol is available for about 60 product groups 
that think environmental labeling is necessary and useful. The Nordic environmental mark is a high-
ly respected brand. There are approximately 10,000 swan-branded products in Finland.
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